Public Document Pack

Democratic Services Section

Legal and Civic Services Department B_ElfCISt _
Belfast City Council City Council
City Hall

Belfast

BT15GS

2nd May, 2025

MEETING OF THE CLIMATE AND CITY RESILIENCE COMMITTEE

Dear Alderman/Councillor,

The above-named Committee will meet in the Lavery Room - City Hall and remotely via
Microsoft Teams on Thursday, 8th May, 2025 at 5.15 pm, for the transaction of the
business noted below.

You are requested to attend.

Yours faithfully,

John Walsh

Chief Executive

AGENDA:

1. Routine Matters

(a) Apologies
(b) Minutes
(c) Declarations of Interest

2.  Council Climate Action Plan (Pages 1 - 92)

3. Blackstaff Greenway Feasibility Study - Item withdrawn







Agenda Item 2

CLIMATE & CITY RESILIENCE COMMITTEE

Belfast
City Council

Subject: Council Climate Action Plan

Date: 8" May 2025

Reporting Officer: John Tully, Director Organisational and City Strategy
Debbie Caldwell, Belfast Climate Commissioner

Contact Officer: Claire Shortt, Monitoring, Reporting and Learning Officer

Restricted Reports

Is this report restricted? Yes No X

Please indicate the description, as listed in Schedule 6, of the exempt information by virtue of
which the council has deemed this report restricted.

Insert number

1. Information relating to any individual
2. Information likely to reveal the identity of an individual

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
council holding that information)

4. Information in connection with any labour relations matter
5. Information in relation to which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained

6. Information showing that the council proposes to (a) to give a notice imposing restrictions on a
person; or (b) to make an order or direction

7. Information on any action in relation to the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?

After Committee Decision
After Council Decision
Sometime in the future

Never
Call-in
Is the decision eligible for Call-in? Yes | X | No
1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues

Page 1




1.1 To present the draft Climate Action Plan to members and seek approval for the short-term
actions in the Climate Action Plan to be adopted via the Corporate Annual Delivery Plan for
2024-25. The actions for subsequent years will be brought forward for approval in line with
the annual financial planning and corporate planning cycle.

2.0 Recommendation

2.1 The Committee is requested to:

I.  Note the purpose of the plan - to close the gap between BCC's current climate action
and its ambition to be a net zero and resilient Council as well as its five themes:
Tools for Transition, Adaptation, Energy and Buildings, Transport and Waste
Management;

II.  Note that ‘Commencing the delivery of the Council Corporate Climate Action Plan to
increase the climate resilience of Council assets and services and progress towards
Council net zero emissions’ is a key action in the Council’'s Performance
Improvement Plan;

lll.  Note that all of the short-term actions in the CAP have been mainstreamed into the
draft Corporate Annual Delivery Plan for 2024-25;

IV.  Note that the adoption of the Climate Action Plan will enable the Council to fulfil its
legal obligations under the Public Body Reporting requirements (under the NI Climate
Change Act), specifically in preparing the Mitigation report for submission to DAERA
in Oct 2025 and the Adaptation report in March 2026;

V.  Note that the Climate data platform will collate all of the Council’s climate data and
track delivery of the Climate Action Plan which will enable CMT to obtain regular
progress reports and demonstrate progress externally to DAERA;

VI.  Note the proposed governance arrangements via the Climate and City Resilience
Committee; and

VIl.  Provide approval for the short-term actions in the Climate Action Plan to be adopted
via the Corporate Annual Delivery Plan for 2024-25 and note that the actions for
subsequent years will be brought forward for approval in line with the annual financial
planning and corporate planning cycle.

2.2 Background
The work started in 2021 with an initial analysis of the Council’s scope 1 and 2 emissions
followed by the commissioning of KPMG to undertake a Climate Risk Assessment (in 2023).
This work combined with a series of workshops led by KPMG informed the development of
an initial draft Climate Action Plan. An internal review of the plan by the climate team and
further consultation with departments has resulted in the revised draft plan included in this
report.

2.3 Purpose of the Climate Action Plan (CAP)

The purpose of the plan is to close the gap between BCC’s current climate action and its
ambition to be a net zero and resilient Council. It includes actions to be delivered in the short
term (by 2025), medium term (by 2030) and longer term (2030+). The actions are grouped
under five themes:

e Tools for Transition

e Adaptation

e Energy and Buildings

e Transport

e Waste Management

24 Alignment of the plan with the draft Corporate Annual Delivery Plan

Page 2




‘Commencing the delivery of the Council Corporate Climate Action Plan to increase the
climate resilience of Council assets and services and progress towards Council net zero
emissions’ is a key action in the Council’s Performance Improvement Plan.

In consultation with departments, all of the short-term actions in the CAP have been
mainstreamed into the draft Corporate Annual Delivery Plan for 2024-25 with identified
SROs for each action. Going forward, it is proposed that the plan will be reviewed annually
with priority actions brought forward by Departments for inclusion in the Council’s Annual
Delivery Plan. This will ensure that the Climate Action Plan supports the delivery of the
Annual Delivery Plan and that climate actions are properly resourced as part of the annual
planning cycle.

Draft Corporate Annual Delivery Plan — Climate Actions for 2025-26
*PIP

Tools for Transition: ensuring BCC is equipped with the tools and mechanisms to

successfully enable it to become a net zero, resilient council

e Develop and launch an accessible climate data platform to track progress on delivering
climate adaptation and mitigation actions (1.7) *

e Develop a sustainable/ low carbon procurement policy and supplier guidance documents
to support a transition to an inclusive, net zero and resilient future (1.12)

o Develop a sustainable food policy for the Council that addresses waste, sourcing,
packaging, emissions measurement and an events protocol (1.14) *

e Prepare departments for data collection required for Public Body Reporting under the
Climate Change Act (1.18)

e Prepare mitigation report (Oct 2025) and adaptation report (March 2026) for submission to
DAERA in line with Public Body Reporting requirements (1.19) *

Adaptation: ensuring BCC is future proofed and resilient to flood and heat related risk

e Update the BCC Climate Risk Assessment in line with the new mandatory Public Body
Reporting requirements (under the Climate Change Act) (2.2)

e Apply SUDs policy and guidance (SUDS Manual C753) as standard practice in the Capital
Programme (2.3)

e Start to deliver the Tree Establishment Strategy and continue the One Million Trees
Programme (2.19)

Energy and Buildings: achievement of a low-carbon and sustainable energy system

and Council estate

e Complete a second phase of building energy audits - (Andersonstown LC, Lisnasharragh
LC, Templemore Av LC, Brook LC) and the Waterfront Hall (3.4) *

e Develop the integration of whole life carbon assessments as standard practice in the
Capital Programme (3.8)

e Launch a phased metering and retrofitting programme across BCC'’s top energy users
based on the findings of the building level audits of Adelaide, Cecil Ward, City Hall and
Duncrue (3.11) *

e Scope out a strategy to increase renewable and low-carbon energy use through corporate
power purchase agreements (3.15)

Transport: achievement of net zero and sustainable Council-related transport

¢ Review the Business Travel Policy and develop the Sustainable Staff Travel Plan to
encourage modal shift, active travel and more fuel-efficient driving for Council staff (4.1)

e Through sustainable procurement, aim to use local suppliers to the Council to reduce
miles travelled within the confines of procurement legislation and Local Govt Act
restrictions (4.4)

e Conduct a commercial assessment of Council land suitable for installing low emission
vehicle (LEV) charging points (4.9)

e Commence work on repurposing staff parking spaces for cycle racks and integrate
appropriate facilities to support active travel e.g. shower and changing facilities (4.10)

Page 3




Waste Management: enabling the Council and its operations to support the transition to
a more circular economy

¢ Initiate an internal Council-level Waste Management Plan which aligns with the Waste
Management Hierarchy and with an emphasis on green waste (5.3)

e Continue to progress the proposal for a single use plastics policy for the Council (5.4)

e Develop a mechanism to track and report on internal Council generated waste (5.7)

2.5

2.6

2.7

Public body reporting

The adoption of the Climate Action Plan will position the Council well with regard to its legal
obligations under the Public Body Reporting requirements (Climate Change Act) as it will
demonstrate ongoing activity within the Council to address climate change and its longer
term plans to mitigate and adapt to climate change.

The timely adoption of the plan will enable the Climate team to prepare the Mitigation report
for submission to DAERA in Oct 2025 and the Adaptation report in March 2026.

The mitigation report must include:

1. astatement, in respect of each of the three preceding financial years, of the amounts
and the sources of the council’'s greenhouse gas emissions;

2. a statement of the council’s proposals and policies for reducing those amounts and
otherwise for mitigating the effects of climate change in the exercise of its functions;

a statement of the time-scales for implementing those proposals and policies; and

an assessment of the progress made towards implementing the proposals and policies
set out in any previous climate change mitigation report.

The adaptation report must include:

1. an assessment of the current and predicted impact of climate change in relation to its
functions;

2. a statement of council’s proposals and policies for adapting to climate change in the
exercise of its functions;

a statement of the timescales for implementing those proposals and policies; and

an assessment of the progress made towards implementing the proposals and policies
set out in any previous climate change adaptation report.

Climate data platform

A Climate data platform has been developed by Digital Services to store this information and
track progress on delivery. The next steps are to populate the platform with the climate
actions and other data once the CAP is approved. The Climate Team will test the platform
before rolling it out more widely across the organisation.

Proposed governance structure

Six-monthly progress reports on the Climate Action Plan will be provided to Climate and City
Resilience Committee. An annual report will be prepared by the Climate Team by August
each year and the Climate Team will monitor and review progress through the Climate Data
Platform and provide advisory support to departments where required.

3.1

Financial and Resource Implications

Funding for the implementation of the actions in the Corporate Annual Delivery Plan for
2024-25 has been agreed via the financial planning and rate setting process.

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment

Equality screening completed.

Page 4




4.0

Appendices

Appendix 1 — Draft Climate Action Plan

Page 5




This page is intentionally left blank



CLIMATE
ACTION
PLAN

April 2025

Belfast
City Council




Contents

01 Executive summary

02 ntroduction

03 Climate Action Plan

Tools for the Transition

Adaptation — Extreme Heat

Adaptation — Flood Risk

Energy and Buildings

Transport

Waste Management

94 Appendices

Belfast
City Council




Foreword

Tackling climate change remains the
challenge of our generation. The scale of
the required response means that we all
need to play our part and collaborate with
others.

We recognise that the City Council must
show leadership on this issue. We know
that reaching net zero and increasing
resilience will be challenging but the
potential benefits are worth striving for.

This action plan describes what Belfast City

uncil is doing to reduce the greenhouse
(gas emissions within our control and
fRerease the resilience of our assets and
SBerations to withstand the effects of
extreme weather events associated with
climate change.

Our progress so far

In 2024, we developed an ambitious Local
Area Energy Plan for the city which sets out
a series of priority decarbonisation
investments to support an inclusive,
transition to a net zero, resilient future by
2050.

We also completed energy audits on

® www.belfastcity.gov.uk/climate-change

four of our key buildings (City Hall, Duncrue,
Adelaide, Cecil Ward) which set out in detail
how we will reduce emissions from our
buildings, and we have five more audits
planned for 2025.

We commissioned a series of studies to de-
risk a city centre heat network that could

decarbonise the heating of our highest energy

consuming buildings.

We've switched our fleet over to HVO, ran a

number of recycling pilots and installed Water

Refill Stations in City Hall and St Georges
Market. We've also developed a draft policy
on Single Use Plastics and we’re tracking the
carbon in our Supply Chain.

We’ve completed a Tree Strategy and have
undertaken survey work at Clement Wilson
Park, Barnetts Demesne and Sir Thomas and
Lady Dixon Park to understand how flood
resilience, carbon sequestration and
biodiversity can be improved.

We are committed to ensuring the Council is
preparing for climate change, to embedding
resilience and mitigation into our Corporate
Delivery Plan on an annual basis and to
keeping this Action plan under review.

/

CLIMATE
ACTION

Councillor Réis-Maire Donnelly, Chair
of the Climate and City Resilience
Committee and Sinn Fein Councillor
for Black Mountain

John Walsh, Chief Executive, Belfast
City Council

© 2023 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation 0
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. AII rlghts reserved.



Executiv

o - © 2023 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms 4
‘ www‘belfaStClty.gov'u klcl lmate-Cha nge affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.



Executive summary

This Action Plan
sets out the scale
of the challenge
for the Council
and the areas
where we must
take action to
mitigate and
adapt to climate
change

Belfast has a target to be a net zero city and climate resilient by 2050. In
response to this, Belfast City Council (BCC) aims to achieve net zero
emissions and to increase the resilience of its assets and services to
withstand and adapt to changing climate conditions and recover
positively from shocks and stresses. This Climate Action Plan provides a
roadmap to achieve these targets for the Council.

Our Climate Action Plan features a range of actions across five key
themes — Tools for Transition, Adaptation, Energy and Buildings,
Transport, Waste Management. The actions in this plan set out to close
the gap between BCC’s current climate action and its ambition to be a
net zero! and resilient Council. This plan includes actions to be delivered
in the short term (by 2025), medium term (by 2030) and longer term
(2030+).

In consultation with Departments, the short-term actions have been
mainstreamed into the Corporate Annual Delivery Plan for 2024-25.
Going forward, the plan will be reviewed annually with priority actions
brought forward by Departments for inclusion in the Council’s Annual
Delivery Plan. This mainstreaming approach will ensure that the Climate
Action Plan supports the delivery of the Annual Delivery Plan and that
climate actions are resourced as part of the annual planning cycle.

1 Net zero includes scope 1, 2 and 3, and focuses on the Council's own operations

- . © 2023 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms
‘ www' belfaStC|tY'g°v'u kICIlmate-Cha nge affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.

CLIMATE
ACTION

71 climate

actions

dCross

5 themes

“’ o, OO
L/\ Tools for Transition

L

Y

-

Adaptation

Transport

Waste Management



BCC’s Climate Action Plan on a page

I 5 core themes for climate action to ensure coverage across BCC’s operational footprint
| S0
% . y N .
I TL/‘\ Tools for Transition ', w' Adaptation L' Transport ' “ Waste Management E@ l Energy and Buildings
CE)) (0% ] a
— Goals to achieve the ambition of being a net zero and resilient Council
*  Ensuring BCC is equipped with the tools Ensuring BCC is future proofed and * Achievement of net zero and *  Enabling the Council and its e Achievement of a low-carbon and
and mechanisms to successfully enable resilient to flood and heat related sustainable Council-related transport operations to support the sustainable energy system and
it to become a net zero, resilient council risk transition to a more circular Council estate
economy
) Key objectives <«
I (@,
@ Upskilling BCC staff and decision- «  Employ nature-based solutions » Transitioning to low and / or zero *  Reducing the volume of waste *  Enhancing and enabling energy
| = makers in sustainability and climate (NbS) as a key tool in reducing carbon Council-related transport generated by the Council and efficiency across the Council
N change flood and heat-related risk fleet implement actions to transition the estate, reaching their highest
| * Creating and collating data that «  Increase resilience of BCC assets to *  Promotion of sustainable Council to a more circular economy potential energy efficiency
| supports the transition to net zero and surface flood and heat risk transport modes, including active *  Employing low-carbon /
resilience «  Develop heat protection travel and use of low emission renewable energy sources across
| *  Establishing and amending strategies, procedures and protocols vehicles as well as supporting the Council estate
| policies and guidelines that support the «  Promote flood resilience across business travel to align with the
transition to net zero and resilience BCC development planning sustainable travel hierarchy

r

Key outcomes and benefits

- s s =s s owd

71 climate actions, including 3 key short-term actions for each theme



Tools for Transition

Key climate actions to be delivered in the short-term

The CAP identifies priority short-term actions for each of the 5 themes which have been integrated into the draft Council’s Corporate Annual

Delivery Plan 2025/26

Develop and launch an accessible
climate data platform to track
progress on delivering climate

adaptation and mitigation actions
(1.7)

Develop a sustainable/ low carbon
procurement policy and supplier
guidance documents to support a
transition to an inclusive, net zero
and resilient future (1.12)

Develop a sustainable food policy for
the Council that addresses waste,
sourcing, packaging, emissions
measurement and an events protocol
(1.14)

Prepare departments for data
collection required for Public Body
Reporting under the Climate Change
Act (1.18)

Prepare mitigation report (Oct 2025)
and adaptation report (March 2026)
for submission to DAERA in line with
Public Body Reporting requirements
(1.19)

el

Adaptation and Resilience

1. Update the BCC Climate Risk
Assessment in line with the
new mandatory Public Body
Reporting requirements (under
the Climate Change Act) (2.2)

Apply SUDs policy and guidance
(SUDS Manual C753) as
standard practice in the Capital
Programme (2.3)

Start to deliver the Tree
Establishment Strategy and
continue the One Million Trees
Programme (2.19)

CA0)
se¥e
ON®
1. Complete a second phase of
building energy audits -
(Andersonstown LC, Lisnasharragh

LC, Templemore Av LC, Brook LC)
and the Waterfront Hall (3.4)

Energy and Buildings

. Develop the integration of whole
life carbon assessments as
standard practice in the Capital
Programme (3.8)

. Launch a phased metering and
retrofitting programme across
BCC’s top energy users based on
the findings of the building level
audits of Adelaide, Cecil Ward,
City Hall and Duncrue (3.11)

. Scope out a strategy to increase
renewable and low-carbon energy
use through corporate power
purchase agreements (3.15)

Transport

1. Review the Business Travel Policy
and develop the Sustainable Staff
Travel Plan to encourage modal
shift, active travel and more fuel-
efficient driving for Council staff
(4.2)

. Through sustainable procurement,
aim to use local suppliers to the
Council to reduce miles travelled
within the confines of
procurement legislation and Local
Govt Act restrictions (4.4)

. Conduct a commercial assessment
of Council land suitable for
installing low emission vehicle
(LEV) charging points (4.9)

. Commence work on repurposing
staff parking spaces for cycle racks
and integrate appropriate facilities
to support active travel e.g.
shower and changing facilities
(4.10)

£

Waste Management

1. Initiate an internal Council-level
Waste Management Plan which
aligns with the Waste
Management Hierarchy and with
an emphasis on green waste (5.3)

. Continue to progress the proposal
for a single use plastics policy for
the Council (5.4)

Develop a mechanism to track and
report on internal Council
generated waste (5.7)




o - © 2023 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms 8
‘ www‘belfaStclty'gov.u klc' 'mate-cha nge affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.



Context

We know that climate change is already happening as we’ve seen extreme weather events becoming more frequent, severe and longer. While we must do all we can to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions, we recognise the need to re-nature the City to restore biodiversity and increase resilience to the impacts of climate change.

In line with global trends, the climate of Northern Ireland and Belfast is changing - temperatures are increasing, sea levels are
rising and patterns of precipitation are changing. These changes are projected to continue and intensify with a wide range of
impacts for Belfast and Belfast City Council. A summary of key climate and weather-related changes already observed and
projected for Northern Ireland and the city of Belfast is provided below.

Increased temperatures - Average annual temperatures have increased by 0.8°C for the most recent decade compared to
1961-1990 baselinel. During July 2021, the highest temperature on record for Northern Ireland (31.3°C) was recorded at
Castlederg, Tyrone?. Under a high emissions scenario (RCP8.5), average annual temperatures in Northern Ireland are
projected to increase by up to 2.5°C by 2050, when compared to the 1981-2000 baseline3. Average winter temperatures
are projected to be up to 2.6°C warmer by 2050, with average summer temperatures 3.2°C warmer3.

Changing rainfall patterns - Average annual rainfall has increased by 7% for the most recent decade when compared with
the 1961-1990 baselinel. Approximately 58mm (2.3 inches) of rain fell in 90 minutes in Central Belfast on July 28t 20002.
Under a high emissions scenario, an increase of up to 27% in winter precipitation for Northern Ireland is projected by
2050, when compared with the 1981-2000 baseline!. Summer precipitation totals are projected to increase under a high
emissions scenario by up to 11% by 20507

Increased sea level rise and tidal surges - Sea levels around the United Kingdom have risen by 16.5 cm since 1901%. For
Belfast Harbour, the 5 highest tidal surges on record have been recorded since 1994°. Large proportions of Belfast city

centre are situated between 1 and 2 metres below extreme tide level and 6,000 properties are currently considered at
significant coastal flood risk®. By mid-century, sea levels across Northern Ireland are also predicted to increase by up to
0.3m under a RCP8.5 scenario with respect to the 1981-2000 baselinel.

Purpose of the plan

The purpose of this plan is to set out the practical steps
Belfast City Council will take in the coming years across its
own assets and operations to address the climate
emergency, some of which are already underway. We aim
to adopt an integrated approach to tackling the climate
and ecological emergency alongside other city priorities to
maximise the co-benefits.

We will mainstream these climate actions into our
corporate planning and delivery processes. Each year, we
will embed selected mitigation and adaptation actions
from this plan into our Corporate Annual Delivery Plan and
report on our progress in line with Northern Ireland’s
Public Body reporting requirements under the NI Climate
Change Act.

We will also update this plan regularly to add new actions
and remove actions that we have completed.

1IPCC, 2023: Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. A Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Contribution of Working Groups I, Il and lII to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, (in press);
2Ballester, J., et al. (2023) ‘Heat-related mortality in Europe during the summer of 2022’,. Nat Med 29, 1857-1866.; 3Jenkins, K. et al. (2022) ‘Updated projections of UK heat-related mortality using policy-relevant global warming levels and socio-economic scenarios’, Environmental Research Letters, 17(11), p. 114036; IPCC, 2021:
Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2021; “The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group | to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 3-32,



Global climate change

Global temperatures are rising at an unprecedented rate, this increase is caused by the release of greenhouse gas emissions from human activities. This phenomenon is

driving extreme temperatures, changing rainfall patterns, more frequent severe weather events, and increased sea level. These changes are projected to continue and
intensify with a wide range of impacts on global populations and ecosystems.

Since 1990, the IPCC has published a series of assessment reports which provide a synthesis of the most up-to-date Scena riO trajectories and temperatu re Outcomes

science and evidence of climate change 1. The most recent 6™ Assessment Report shows that global average

. . . . . . T ject fut limate ch , scientist | jecti f fut limat
temperatures have increased by 1.1°C when compared with pre-industrial conditions (1850-1900) and that this ° pr-oljec uture ¢ Im? = (Enlnlags, SeliEn Is. s develop projec _lons o7 future climate .
. . . S . . . . conditions based on different atmospheric GHG concentrations. The assessed projected
increase is unprecedented since the start of human civilisation. Changes in global climate are being reflected in . . . L
. . . . change in mean global surface temperature for five future climate scenarios is illustrated
changes in the frequency and intensity of extreme weather events such as heatwaves, droughts and flooding. As A N R
. . . o - . . I on the graph below®. Future global temperatures can vary from below 1.5°C to over 4°C
illustrated in the adjacent graph, projections indicate these changes are expected to continue and intensify into the . . . - .
. . . . by 2100 depending on the levels of future emissions. Under a high emissions scenario
O future. Some of the key consequences of ongoing and projected climate change are outlined below: . . . R
Io)) (SSP5-8.5) global average temperature is projected to rise by up to 4.4 °C by 2100.
Extreme Temperatures: Observed increases in the frequency of extreme temperatures are already affecting Under a ‘middle of the road” scenario (SSP 2-4.5), where initial progress towards
Onglobal populations. During the summer of 2022, 61,672 heat-related deaths occurred in Europe 2. By the end of sustainability is slow, global average temperature will rise by 2.7°C. If strong mitigation
this century, projections show that under a high emissions scenario, the number of heat-related deaths across actions are taken immediately, global temperatures are projected to rise by 1.5°C under
the UK will increase by up to 562%3. a low emissions scenario (SSP 1-1.9).

Drought: Increasing global temperatures intensify the risk of drought, resulting in water supply shortages and

food production loss. Today approximately half the world’s population experiences severe water scarcity for at °C
least one month per year due to climatic and other factors 1. Under a high emissions scenario (SSP5-8.5), 30% of 5 SSP5-8.5
global crop and livestock areas will become climatically unsuitable by 2100.1 4 SSP3-7.0
Changing rainfall patterns: Increased precipitation represents a threat to low-lying settlements and urban areas. 3
By 2100, the global population exposed to flooding under a high emissions scenario (SSP5-8.5) will increase by up 2
to 400% L. Projections show that damage costs and people affected by precipitation and fluvial flooding may - Efmzé
double across Europe by the end of the century?. : ___\’_/_’_/\/\//
. . . . - . 0
Sea level rise: Sea level rise is already impacting ecosystems, human livelihoods and infrastructure. The average
rate of global sea level rise was 1.3 mm/yr. between 1901 and 1971, increasing to 1.9 mm/yr. between 1971 and -1
2006, and further increasing to 3.7 mm/yr. between 2006 and 2018 1. Under a high emissions scenario (SSP5-8.5), 1950 2000 2015 2050 2100

global sea level is projected to rise by 0.20 — 0.29m by 20501. This will further amplify the currents risks faced by
coastal cities and settlements.

1IPCC, 2023: Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. A Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Contribution of Working Groups |, Il and Il to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, (in press);
2Ballester, J., et al. (2023) ‘Heat-related mortality in Europe during the summer of 2022’,. Nat Med 29, 1857-1866.; 3Jenkins, K. et al. (2022) ‘Updated projections of UK heat-related mortality using policy-relevant global warming levels and socio-economic scenarios’, Environmental Research Letters, 17(11), p. 114036; IPCC, 2021: 10
Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2021; “The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group | to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 3-32,



International, national and regional response

Global responses to climate change are accelerating, as exemplified by the signing of the Paris Agreement by 196 countries in 2015. Northern Ireland’s climate policies and
Belfast City Council’s plans are evolving in line with national and international requirements to achieve net zero and deliver climate resilience by 2050

Policy and strategic context

The COP21 Paris Agreement which aims to limit global warming to less than 2°C above pre-industrial levels,
pursue efforts to limit increases to 1.5°C, build resilience and increase the world’s ability to mitigate the
impacts of climate change.

The Climate Change Act (Northern Ireland) 2022 sets targets for Northern Ireland to reduce its GHG
emissions. The Act sets out a carbon budgeting framework, provisions for reporting against emissions targets
and carbon budgets, and the appointment of a Climate Commissioner. The Act sets an interim target of at
+gst 48% reduction in net emissions by 2030 and sectoral targets including at least 80% of electricity

@ nsumption from renewable sources and 70% of waste is recycled as well as a target of minimum spend of
‘g% of overall transport budgets on active travel by 2030.1 The Carbon Budget (2023-2037) Regulations

024) set the first three carbon budgets as an average annual reduction of 33% for 2023-2027; 48% 2028-

7032; and 62% for 2033-2037.

In 2022, Belfast adopted carbon reduction targets of 66% reduction by 2025, 80% reduction by 2030 and
100% reduction by 2050 (compared to 2000). Belfast’s community plan, the Belfast Agenda (2024-2028)
outlines priorities of action over the next four years including a programme of work under one of its key
themes ‘Our Planet which aims to create a sustainable, nature-positive city’.

The 2024 Belfast Local Area Energy Plan outlines a series of priority projects to transition the city to clean,
renewable energy sources to reach net zero by 2050. The plan provides a strategic case for investment that
will enable a transition to an affordable and decarbonised energy system as well as supporting wider socio-
economic goals.

The Segregation and the Environment: Breaking Down Barriers report identifies strong links between a legacy
of segregation and division in some parts of Belfast and the city’s future ability to respond to the challenges
posed by climate change. This segregation handicap is due to a duplication of public services created during
the conflict.

United
Kingdom

Northern
Ireland

Belfast

Paris Agreement (COP21)

* UN Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDGs)

* UK Climate Change Act 2008

The Climate Change Act (Northern Ireland) 2022

Carbon budgets 2024

Northern Ireland Climate Change Adaptation Programme 2019-2024
Energy Strategy — The Path to Net Zero Energy

Draft Green Growth Strategy

Programme for Government

Second Cycle NI Flood Risk Management Plan 2021-2027

Strategic Planning Policy Statement

Belfast Local Development Plan 2020-2035
The Belfast Agenda 2024-2028
Belfast Local Area Energy Plan 2024

Segregation and the Environment: Breaking Down Barriers 2024
Belfast Resilience Strategy 2020

A Net Zero Carbon Roadmap for Belfast 2020

Green and Blue Infrastructure Plan sourced from LDP



Climate action

There are two categories of climate action: those that aim to reduce emissions (mitigation) and those that aim to increase resilience to climate
impacts (adaptation). Climate action also provides co-benefits for actions not directly related to climate change including cleaner air, the creation of
green jobs, improved public health from active travel, and biodiversity enhancement.

Traditionally, mitigation and adaptation have been dealt with separately. However, they are
complementary approaches and there is an increasing recognition that they need to work in
an integrated manner to successfully achieve their respective aims.

1. Mitigation: decreasing the causes of climate change by making efforts to prevent or reduce the
emission of GHGs into the atmosphere. Mitigation action focuses on limiting the rate and scale of
future climate change by reducing levels of greenhouse gas emissions (e.g. by increasing the
share of renewable energies or establishing a cleaner mobility system) and increasing GHG sinks

Mitigation: Actions to
reduce GHG emissions

U  (e.g. through afforestation). In short, mitigation is a human intervention that reduces the sources . N .
g of GHG emissions and/or enhances the sinks. * Sustainable transport AEUICHESEOTation
(M. Adaptation: anticipating the adverse effects of climate change and taking appropriate action to * Clean energy e
lO_\D prevent or minimise the damage caused, coping with the impacts that can't be avoided or taking  Energy efficiency Public education
advantage of opportunities that may arise. Examples of adaptation measures include large-scale . Tree plantin
infrastructure changes, such as building defences to protect against sea-level rise as well as * Resource use efficiency P g
behavioural shifts, such as individuals reducing their food waste. In essence, adaptation can be Green and blue

understood as the process of adjusting to the current and future effects of climate change.

infrastructure

> Greenhouse gas concentrations

m‘ Adaptation and mitigation are two necessary and complementary routes of
action that address two different aspects of climate change.
Responses Adaptation and mitigation can and should work in an integrated manner to
maximise co-benefits and to decrease the impacts of climate change on lives
< 1 > Adaptation

and livelihoods.

12



Belfast City and Climate Action

As the largest city in Northern Ireland, with a population of over 348,000 people?, Belfast has a key role to play in supporting the achievement of Northern Ireland’s
decarbonisation targets and ensuring it is resilient to the impacts of climate change.

Belfast declared a climate emergency declaration in October 2019 and has adopted carbon reduction targets of 66% reduction by 2025, 80% reduction by 2030 and 100% reduction by 2050 . The Our Planet
Board oversees a programme of work which aims to create a sustainable, nature-positive city, through: Re-naturing the city and increasing resilience to climate change; Creating a sustainable circular
economy; and Innovating to net zero. Whilst significant work is still required, Belfast has already made progress in mitigating and adapting to climate change as outlined below (non-exhaustive).

Progress to date by Belfast City in Mitigating Climate Change

Belfast emits 1.5 million tonnes of carbon per year. Scope
1 and 2 carbon emissions from Belfast have fallen by 42%
since 2000 due to a combination of an increasingly
decarbonised electricity supply, structural change in the
economy, and the gradual adoption of more efficient

6T obed

g::e(r:l\-loGu)se buildings, vehicles and businesses. The priority
Emissions? decarbonisation projects outlined in the Belfast Local
Area Energy Plan are being progressed through
coordinated and collaborative working by the Belfast Net
Zero Delivery Group. These include a district heat
network, large scale retrofit of buildings, deployment of
solar panels and transitioning households on oil to move
to low carbon heating.
In 2021/22 and on a per capita basis, Belfast generated
the smallest amount of household waste across Northern
L Ireland’s local authorities at 429kg, compared to 442kg in
Management3?

2020/21 and 420kg in 2019/20. However, Belfast also
had the lowest household waste recycling rates at 41%
and has a municipal recycling rate target of 65% by 2035.

Source: 1) NISRA Mid-Year Estimate of Population 2022; 2) A Net-Zero Carbon Roadmap for Belfast; 3) DAERA; 4) Belfast
Resilience Strategy 5) The Second Cycle Northern Ireland Flood Risk Management Plan (FRMP) 2021 — 2027, 5) Belfast
Resilience Assessment, 6) Valuing Belfast’s Urban Forest 2022

Belfast
Resilience
Strategy?

Flood Risk
Managemen?®

Nature Based
Solutions®

Progress to date by Belfast City in Adapting to Climate Change

Belfast City Council launched its Resilience Strategy in December 2020. The strategy brought
together stakeholders across Belfast and identified a wide range of shocks and stresses faced
by the city. The strategy identified the implications of climate change as the single biggest
long-term economic risk for Belfast. The strategy is a framework that sets out 38
transformational programmes that aim to safeguard Belfast against future risks.

Belfast is at risk of coastal and pluvial flooding and both are sensitive to climate change.
Coastal flooding poses a risk for Belfast with 1,533 properties currently at risk of flooding,
3,400 properties identified as at risk from coastal flooding by 2065 and over 7,900 properties
at risk by 2115. Belfast is one of the twelve Areas of Potential Significant Flood Risk (APSFR)
listed within the Second Cycle Northern Ireland Flood Risk Management Plan (FRMP) 2021 —
2027. The plan published in 2021, includes specific measures to manage flood risk in each
APSFR. Proposed measures specific to Belfast include flood alleviation schemes for the
Glenmachan area and the Glenbrook River, feasibility work with regards to a flood alleviation
scheme at the Merok Burn Tributaries and the Knock River, and an Enhanced Drainage Area
Plan (DAP) for Belfast.

Nature based solutions are a key tool for urban centres to support climate mitigation and
adaptation. It is estimated that there are 808,000 trees in Belfast, with 63,500 planted since
2020 - providing ecosystem services such as carbon storage, sequestration, pollution removal
and avoided runoff — to the benefit of £16.1 million annually.

13



A Climate Action Plan for BCC

Belfast City Council (BCC) recognises that it needs to show leadership by climate-proofing its own assets and services as well as by supporting both Northern Ireland and
Belfast in meeting their climate targets. This Climate Action Plan (CAP) will enable the Council to meet its own emission targets, de-risk its operations and demonstrate
its commitment to delivering climate action.

BCC not only has a leading role within Belfast and its communities in setting future directions and bringing together stakeholders to collaborate on solutions, but the services BCC provides play a crucial role
in supporting the citizens and communities of Belfast in addressing the challenges and impacts posed by climate change.

Transitioning BCC into a low-carbon, resilient council not only contributes to combatting climate change but also delivers on a range of economic, social and environmental co-benefits as outlined below.
Positive outcomes can be achieved across areas such as air quality, health and wellbeing, amenity value, biodiversity and green employment.

Economic Social Environmental

Opportunities

Opportunities

Opportunities

Ensuring assets are future proofed will reduce
exposure to current and future climate risks e.g.

flooding and extreme heat and associated remediation

costs

Actions that focus on a more localised climate
response will support upskilling and the creation of
local green employment

Integrating indigenous, renewable sources of energy
will reduce reliance on (imported) fossil fuels, reduce
exposure to carbon price hikes/taxation as well as
fossil fuel market volatility and improve energy
security

Actions that promote the use of sustainable transport
and integrate renewable energy as well as increasing
open spaces and other nature-based solutions will
improve public health by enhancing air quality

Integrating actions that promote active travel will
support improved health and wellbeing by
encouraging people to be outside and exercise

Measures that focus on restoring and regenerating
open spaces and wider nature-based solutions will
deliver improved amenity value for affected
communities

Implementing retrofit programmes and energy
efficiency behavioural change will help to address fuel
poverty

Implementing measures that support the integration
of nature-based solutions and promote the
development of open space will improve biodiversity

Implementing measures such as active travel,
switching to renewable energy and sustainable
transport will reduce pollution

Focusing on the transition to a circular economy as
well as supporting measures that promote energy and
resource use efficiency will reduce pressure on natural
resources

14



N. Ireland Climate Change Act 2022 - Public Body Reporting

The Northern Ireland Assembly passed it first ever climate change legislation in March 2022. The Climate Change Act (Northern Ireland) 2022 received Royal Assent on 6 June
2022 and sets out the legal framework for tackling climate change by reducing greenhouse gas emissions for decades to come in Northern Ireland.

The Climate Change (Reporting Bodies) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2024, which came into operation on the 3rd May 2024, set climate change reporting duties on specified
public body organisations, which are listed within its Schedule. There are 40 public bodies listed in the Schedule and Belfast City Council is one of them. The regulations place
reporting duties on the specified public bodies. These duties cover both adaptation and mitigation.

Mitigation — every 3 years

The first mitigation report is due first — 31st October 2025 and will
include:

T¢ abed

* astatement, in respect of each of the three preceding financial years,
of the amounts and the sources of the Council’s greenhouse gas
emissions;

* astatement of the Council’s proposals and policies for reducing those
amounts and otherwise for mitigating the effects of climate change in
the exercise of its functions;

* astatement of the time-scales for implementing those proposals and
policies; and

* an assessment of the progress made towards implementing the
proposals and policies set out in any previous climate change
mitigation report.

Adaptation — Every 5 years

The first adaptation report is due first — 31st March 2026 and will
include:

* an assessment of the current and predicted impact of climate
change in relation to its functions;

* astatement of Council’s proposals and policies for adapting to
climate change in the exercise of its functions;

* astatement of the timescales for implementing those proposals and
policies; and

* an assessment of the progress made towards implementing the
proposals and policies set out in any previous climate change
adaptation report.

15



Key steps of climate action plan development

To develop BCC’s CAP a four-step approach was adopted and is outlined below. The following pages describe the four steps in more detail.

The starting point for the development of the CAP was to understand the current status of climate action planning across BCC. This consisted of an assessment of BCC’s climate action baseline through a
mixture of stakeholder interviews and a desktop review of the Council’s relevant policies, plans and strategies. On this basis, key areas of improvement were identified to support BCC in meeting its climate
action objectives and a comprehensive list of potential climate interventions was created to support BCC to address these. This comprehensive list was developed by drawing on existing BCC information and
documents along with additional resources, including best practice examples from peers and UK / NI Government policy. This list of actions was screened for impact, feasibility and cost by the KPMG team and
BCC stakeholders. Collating all of this information and feedback as well as drawing upon expert input, the long list was condensed into a short list of climate actions and associated climate action roadmaps in
Step 3. The final phase consisted of the development of a Monitoring, Learning and Reporting Framework for actions considered to be a short-term priority. This framework development included the
integration of targets, metrics, outcome indicators and data requirements for each priority action. See Annex for details of each step.

2¢ abed

Step 1: Establishing the
Climate Action Baseline

Step 1 developed an understanding of
the climate action baseline for BCC and
establish the foundations for action
through conducting a desktop-based
review of existing relevant BCC, peers,
reports, strategies and plans as well as
conducting stakeholder interviews. The
outcome of these activities identified the
challenges facing BCC, the measures
already in place and key areas for
improvement.

Step 2: Action
|dentification

Step 2 identified a comprehensive and
wide-ranging list of planned and potential
actions to enable and support the
delivery of BCC’s climate goals. This was
carried out by first gathering information
from peers and existing documents and
then by screening the resulting list and
prioritising the actions accordingly.
Through stakeholder consultation and a
dedicated workshop, the long list was
condensed into a shortlist of priority
climate actions.

Step 3: Options analysis

Step 3 enables and supports strategic visioning
and the progressive implementation of actions
through the development of Climate Action
Roadmaps. These roadmaps provide for the
progressive implementation of actions that build
upon the baseline to support delivery of longer-
term strategic actions and achievement of the

theme’s specific objectives and overarching goal.

For each roadmap, there is an accompanying list
of actions containing detailed action-specific
information, such as BCC lead department,
external partners and outcomes and benefits

—

Step 4: Measuring success

Step 4 identified targets, metrics and
data requirements for actions considered
a short-term priority. These are captured
in a Monitoring, Learning and Reporting
Framework in Appendix 6. This is to
ensure robust reporting and monitoring
of progress. This will enable BCC to track
the progress of key actions identified in
the CAP and ensure their completion.

16



Climate Action Plan goals and supporting objectives

The Climate Action Plan (CAP), is structured across the key climate action themes covering Tools for Transition, Energy and Buildings, Transport, Waste Management and
Adaptation. Under each of these themes, a specific goal was set in addition to more specific objectives. These goals combined, aim to support the achievement of a net zero and
resilient Council. Delivering on each of these goals will yield additional benefits outside of outcomes for climate mitigation and resilience, for community development and
environmental sustainability.

Themes

Goals Objectives Outcomes and benefits

Tools for
Transition

= Energyand

Waste
Management

Adaptation

Ensuring BCC is equipped with the tools
and mechanisms to successfully enable it
to become a net zero, resilient council

Achievement of a low-carbon and
sustainable energy system and Council
estate

Achievement of net zero and sustainable
Council-related transport

Enabling the Council and its operations to
support the transition to a more circular
economy

Ensuring BCC is future proofed and
resilient to flood and heat-related risk

Upskilling BCC staff and decision-makers in sustainability and climate change
Creating and collating data that supports the transition to net zero and resilience
Establishing and amending strategies, policies and guidelines that support the
transition to net zero and resilience

Enhancing and enabling energy efficiency across the council estate, reaching their
highest potential energy efficiency
Employing low-carbon / renewable energy sources across the Council estate

Transitioning to low and / or zero carbon Council-related transport fleet

Promotion of sustainable transport modes, including active travel and use of low
emission vehicles as well as supporting business travel to align with the sustainable
travel hierarchy

Reducing the volume of waste generated by the Council and implement actions to
transition the Council to a more circular economy

Employ NbS as a key tool in reducing flood and heat-related risk
Increase resilience of BCC assets to surface flood and heat risk
Develop Heat protection procedures and protocols

Promote flood resilience across BCC development planning

Reduced emissions and increased

circularity

Increased climate resilience and re-

naturing of natural assets

Climate leadership strengthened
through political commitment,

awareness and upskilling

Environmental sustainability

improved

17



Climate Action Roadmaps

The current climate action baseline has been used as the starting point for the action roadmaps with strategic actions developed to meet the objectives of each of the
five key climate action themes. Importantly, the action roadmaps identify enabling actions that progressively build upon the baseline to support delivery of strategic
actions. Below provides an illustrated excerpt from the Energy and Buildings action roadmap.

Climate Action Roadmap for increasing energy efficiency across the BCC Estate

BCC has 295 sites with 1826 buildings which are a key source of its Scope 1 and 2 emissions. Implementing energy efficiency measures through retrofitting will be a key tool in reducing GHG emissions and
meeting climate targets. To achieve this, BCC should conduct building-level energy audits to enhance its existing understanding and data on energy use and to identify opportunities to improve energy
efficiency. To make best use of available resource, this programme should adopt a phased approach and first target BCC's highest energy users and then progress across the remaining estate.

Short-term (2025) Medium-term (2025-2030) Long-term (2030+)
Understanding energy use and opportunities
2CC currently has d:ta on across BCC's top energy users is a critical step to Based on the findings of the buildi.ng.-level audits
Its energy consumption enable the delivery of fit-for-purpose energy of BCC's top energy users, a retrofitting
ez lt§ estate.'Thls efficiency measures programme should be developed and delivered
information can inform the that employs tailored retrofitting options

baseline and support
prioritisation of target
buildings for the audit

Launch a phased metering and retrofitting programme across
e g BCC’s top energy users based on the findings of the building
level audits of Adelaide, Cecil Ward, City Hall and Duncrue(2.9A)

Complete a second phase of building
energy audits (2.2A)

Based on the findings of the
building-level audits of BCC’s
remaining estate, a retrofitting
programme should be
developed and delivered that
employs tailored retrofitting
options across the remaining
estate

Baseline data on Develop a phased approach to

>
o
c
()
o
E
()
>
o
S
Q
=
(1]

Complete a phased programme of
energy usage CUL LRI T across remaining Council owned RO AT CBr e i el SOl
programme (2.2) buildings (2.2B) estate based on the findings of the building
' level audit (2.9B)

BCC’s building e e Complete a phased building-level audit

Understanding energy use and opportunities to improve
energy efficiency across the remaining BCC estate should
be undertaken following Phase 1 (high-energy users) and
is critical in enabling the delivery of fit-for-purpose energy
efficiency measures.

To maximise use of available
resources, a phased approach to
retrofitting BCC's estate should be
adopted

18

T |eod



Measuring success

For each theme, a Monitoring, Learning and Reporting (MLR) framework has been developed to provide timely and effective information that supports improved
decision-making. The MLR framework is designed to be flexible as planning for climate action is considered an iterative process that requires learning-by-doing.

The MLR framework focuses on the short-term actions, in the first and second steps of the roadmaps of each theme (Tools for Transition, Energy and Buildings, Transport, Waste and Adaptation), as these
are enabling actions that provide the basis for subsequent actions. Subsequent actions may require revision and fine-tuning based on the outcomes of the actions in the MLR framework.

MLR frameworks are prepared for each theme and specify the objective(s) of each action, the metric(s) related to measuring progress, the target(s), outcome indicators and data required to complete the
actions —an example is provided below.

The recommendations included in the framework are meant as a guide to the CAP workstream owners, and the KPIs identified should be integrated into existing implementation and reporting processes
and into the day-to-day activities of KPl owners.

-aease see Appendix 5 for the Monitoring, Learning and Reporting Frameworks.

D
NExample of MLR Framework for Transport climate action theme

Action Objectives Metric Outcome indicator Data requirements

e Existing and planned BCC
sustainable transport

*  More frequent communication o
initiatives

* No. of education campaigns

4.1 Review the Business Travel Polic " Toimprove knowledge across run Agreed communications and *  BCCstaff more confident in ¢ Communications and
X ¥ Council staff on BCC sustainable education plan to inform BCC making sustainable travel .
and develop the Sustainable Staff t t initiati * No. of people reached by . . educational content on
. ransport initiatives . staff on sustainable transport choices .
Travel Plan to encourage modal shift, campaigns L . sustainable transport
. L . * Tosupport the uptake of . . * Annual review in place to * Increased use of sustainable .
active travel and more fuel-efficient ; * No. of people changing their . o * Baseline awareness of BCC
. . sustainable transport across BCC . monitor plan transport activities across BCC .
driving for Council staff travel habits (pre and post . - staff on sustainable travel
staff . Decrease in scope 3 emissions staff .
issi campaign) * Scope 3 emissions, CO,e options
To decrease scope 3 emissions +  Scope 3 emissions, CO,e P P2 +  Scope 3 emissions baseline

associated with employee
commuting

19



Governance structure

The council already has a robust internal governance framework to oversee its climate programme with the Climate Programme Board providing scrutiny for
the overall programme of work

The Climate Programme Board will provide oversight of the delivery and updating of the Climate Action Plan ensuring that the actions are delivered in line with agreed timelines, challenges to

its delivery are identified and mitigated and that CAP targets are being met. Heads of Departments will be responsible for securing resources for the implementation of their respective actions
and for reporting progress via the Climate Data Platform with regular updates to the Climate Programme Board.

The Climate Programme Board will review progress on a quarterly basis with six-monthly progress reports provided to the Corporate Management Team and the Climate and City Resilience
Committee. An annual report will be prepared by the Climate Team by August each year ahead of the submission dates for mandatory public body reporting in October 2025 (Mitigation

Report) and March 2026 (Adaptation Report) respectively. The Climate Team will monitor and review progress through the Climate Data Platform and provide advisory support to departments
where required.

9z abed

Mandatory Public Reporting
Mitigation Report Oct 2025 (3 yearly)
Adaptation Report Mar 2026 (5 yearly)
CAP Reporting Process

Corporate Place and
Services Economy

Human Resources

City and External Affairs, Climate Corporate Climate and City

Organisational Legal arfd Civic Marketing and L 5 Programme Board Management Resilie.nce
Strategy Services Communications Team Committee
Quarterly 6-monthly
Property and Olzera't‘;)ns,:ltyd& p:gggii‘s progress report
Projects eighbourhoo p

Services




Action Plan

o - © 2023 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms 2 1
‘ www‘belfaStClty.gov'u klcl lmate-Cha nge affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.



Tools for Transition: Introduction '

&,

The Tools for Transition theme aims to equip BCC with the appropriate building blocks to implement effective climate action.

Baseline and context

Ensuring the appropriate building blocks are in place to support climate action is essential to deliver

the CAP. Tools for Transition is a sector-agnostic cross-cutting theme that covers areas such as
education and upskilling, data as well as development of policies, strategies and guidelines.

Strengthening current approaches in relation to education and training on sustainability and
climate change is essential for BCC to deliver on climate action.

Furthermore, the integration of climate-related data and automation of processes and systems
can strengthen BCC’s understanding of progress against targets as well as exposure to climate
risks and can streamline BCC’s efforts to deliver on climate action.

In addition, aligning policies, strategies and guidelines with BCC’s climate ambition is crucial to
ensure climate action is effectively built into the Council’s strategic goals and decision making,
e.g. developing low carbon/ sustainable procurement policy and supplier guidance documents
with the Net Zero transition including a focus on circular economy.

Education & upskilling

A4 £

Energy data GHG data Climate risk data

=

Building data

Collation &
Automation

Centralised climate action data
platform

Informed evidence
base

o

Climate-related strategies, policies
and guidelines

Developing climate actions for Tools for Transition

Developing structures to facilitate the collation and management of climate related data collation,
education and upskilling, and the implementation of effective policies will support an informed
evidence base and capacity for BCC to deliver climate actions.

Goal: To equip BCC with the tools and mechanisms to successfully enable them to become a net
zero, resilient council.

Obj. 1: Upskilling BCC staff and decision-makers in sustainability and climate change
Obj. 2: Creating and collating data that supports the transition to net zero and resilience

Obj. 3: Establishing and amending strategies, policies and guidelines that support an affordable
and inclusive transition to net zero and resilience

Key short-term actions

1 Develop a sustainable food policy for the Council that addresses waste, sourcing, packaging,
emissions measurement and an events protocol (1.14)

2 Develop a sustainable/ low carbon procurement policy and supplier guidance documents to
support a transition to an inclusive, net zero and resilient future (1.12)

3 Develop and launch an accessible climate data platform to track progress on delivering
climate adaptation and mitigation actions (1.7)

4 Prepare departments for data collection required for Public Body Reporting under the
Climate Change Act (1.18)

5 Preparate a mitigation report (Oct 2025) and adaptation report (March 2026) for
submission to DAERA in line with Public Body Reporting requirements (1.18)

22



Tools for Transition: Action Roadmap

Goal: To equip BCC with the tools and mechanisms to successfully enable them to become a net zero, re
Long-term (2030+)

Short-term (2025) Medium-term (2025-2030)
Support skills development, education and training internally for climate action, tailored for the specific needs of the departments / teams. Run periodic surveys

Prep_are departmgnts o gkl cqllecnon to assess the effectiveness of the training. (1.1)
required for Public Body Reporting . . — - n .
under the Climate Change Act (1.18) Implement an internal climate communications campaign to engage staff on climate-related topics and Council to develop a group of climate champions (1.8)

Tampalqo

ComzlEne Er asse_s;ment € Co_uncn Embed climate impact t t the Council’s decision-
powers, opportunities and barriers to making processes (1.11)
addressing climate change (1.5) :

Review of services, buildings and procurement | h ial and feasibili £ . h
to assess the segregation handicap (1.16) Explore the potential and feasibility of increasing the
number of climate friendly meals sold within the
Council Estate (1.3)

Establish an internal Council governance structure that
supports sustainable food — potentially reporting to the
Climate Programme Board (1.13)

Develop a sustainable food policy for the Council that
addresses waste, sourcing, packaging, emissions

measurement and an events protocol (1.14) As part of the development of a sustainable / low carbon

procurement policy and supplier guidance documents,
include sustainable food requirements such as Veg City,
Soil Association’s bronze catering mark and the Cool
Food Pledge into food provided within Council’s
estate(1.15)

zanalq0

Explore opportunities for surplus land to be made available for potential partnership or disposal to
third sector organisations where climate mitigation and adaptation goals are being observed e.g. for
community growing, urban agriculture, energy production, carbon sequestration (1.4)

6¢ abed

Prepare gation report (Oct 2025) and adaptation report (March 2026) for
submission to DAERA in line with Public Body Reporting requirements (1.19)

Develop a sustainable/ low carbon procurement policy and supplier guidance documents to support a
transition to an inclusive, net zero and resilient future (1.12)

Set target date for net zero (1.9)

Develop and launch an accessible climate data platform to
track progress on delivering climate adaptation and Expand scope of GHG data collection and reporting for scope 3 (1.10)

mitigation actions (1.7)

(]
Lz
(1]
[=]
=
<
o
w

Integrate data collection systems related to Council-related GHG

emissions (1.6)

23



Tools for Transition /"

Goal: To equip BCC with the tools and mechanisms to successfully enable them to become a net zero, resilient council

[\ [} Action

Lead department

Supporting partners

Indicator(s)

Outcomes and benefits

Education / awareness raising

Support skills development, education and training internally for climate
1.1  action, tailored for the specific needs of the departments / teams. Run
periodic surveys to assess the effectiveness of the training

Director of City and
Organisational Strategy

Northern Ireland Local
Government Association
(NILGA), Climate NI,
Sustainable NI

No. of courses completed
No. of attendees to courses

23 OH

Implement an internal climate communications campaign to engage staff

1.2 . . .
on climate-related topics and news internally and externally

Director of City and
Organisational Strategy

BCC Marketing and Corporate
Communications

Climate Communications Campaign developed
No. Climate-related comms delivered

Ce 22 OH

Capacity building

Explore the potential and feasibility of increasing the no. of climate
friendly meals sold within the Council estate

Director of City and
Organisational Strategy

Belfast Sustainable Food
Partnership

Feasibility study completed

= 28 5

partnership or disposal to third sector organisations where climate
mitigation and adaptation goals are being observed e.g. for community

QD
(Q Explore opportunities for surplus land to be made available for potential
P

O srowing, urban agriculture, energy production, carbon sequestration

City and Neighbourhood
Services, Property and Projects

Director of City and
Organisational Strategy

Opportunities assessed

Ce = 28 D

Complete an assessment of Council powers, opportunities and barriers to

Director of City and

on delivering climate adaptation and mitigation actions

and Resources

Organisational Strategy

Integration of climate data platform

. . . - c A |
15 addressing climate change Organisational Strategy n/a ssessment completed ( §)&
Integrate data collection systems related to Council-related GHG Director of City and Strategic Director of .
1.6 . o . * No. of data systems integrated
emissions Organisational Strategy Corporate Services (@ (e
1.7 Develop and launch an accessible climate data platform to track progress Strategic Director of Finance Director of City and *  Use of climate data platform
' Ce_

Director of City and

1.8  Council to develop a group of climate champions Organisational Strategy n/a ¢ Climate Champions working group established
*  Policy/planning

Director of City and

1.9 Settarget date for net zero trec (.)r 0. 'ty an n/a * Target date set
Organisational Strategy ( @&

) ) Director of City and )

1.10 Expand scope of GHG data collection and reporting for scope 3 Organisational Strategy n/a No. of Scope 3 categories reported on @Q
Director of City and *  No. of decision-maki that include climat

1.11 Embed climate impact throughout the council’s decision-making processes rector ot &1y an n/a 0. of decision-making processes that Include climate @)Q

Organisational Strategy

aspects

bOD BPDDLD

See Appendix 1 for status, timeframe and outcomes and benefits key




o,

Tools for Transition ¥

Goal: To equip BCC with the tools and mechanisms to successfully enable them to become a net zero, resilient council

No Action Timeframe Lead department Supporting partners Indicator(s) Outcomes and benefits

T¢ obed

Policy / planning

Develop a sustainable/ low carbon procurement policy and

Strategic Director of

Procurement policy and supplier

Qe £

1.12 :suppll.er guidance documgqts to support a transition to an Corporate Services n/a guidance documents updated
inclusive, net zero and resilient future
Establish an internal Council governance structure that supports Director of City and

1.13 sustainable food — potentially reporting to the Climate Programme Organisational n/a New working group established

Board

Strategy

L W- 2

Develop a sustainable food policy for the Council that addresses
waste, sourcing, packaging, emissions measurement and an events
protocol.

1.14

Director of City and
Organisational
Strategy

BCC Procurement

Policy implemented

& 28 D

As part of the development of a sustainable/ low carbon
procurement policy and supplier guidance documents, include

1.15 sustainable food requirements such as Veg City, Soil Association’s
bronze catering mark and the Cool Food Pledge into food provided
within Council’s estate

Director of City and
Organisational
Strategy

Nourish NI

Policy updated

Z 22 o

Review of services, buildings and procurement to assess the
1.16 segregation handicap

Director of City and
Organisational
Strategy

City and Neighbourhood
Services

Completion of reviews of services,
buildings and procurement with findings
shared with senior management

C =7 2% &

Prepare departments for data collection required for Public Body

117 Reporting under the Climate Change Act

Director of City and
Organisational
Strategy

Successful upload of data by Departments
to climate data platform

Qe

Prepare a mitigation report (Oct 2025) and adaptation report (Mar
1.18 2026) for submission to DAERA in line with Public Body Reporting
requirements

Director of City and
Organisational
Strategy

Submission of report to DAERA

Qe

See Appendix 1 for status, timeframe and outcomes and benefits key



2 abed

Adaptation to Extreme Weather: Introduction

The adaptation theme aims to ensure BCC is future proofed and resilient to the impacts of severe weather resulting from our changing climate

Assessing Climate Risk for BCC

There are a range of key climate risks arising from climate and weather-related impacts.
They are extreme heat, surface water flooding, coastal flooding, windstorms, and
extreme cold. Under a changing climate, Belfast will experience hotter drier summers
and warmer wetter winters, with more extreme weather and rising sea levels.

In 2023, a Climate Change Risk Assessment was carried out of BCC assets. It looked at a
range of extreme weather that the Council would be exposed to under a range of
emissions scenarios identified in the UK Climate Projections (2018). The Risk Assessment
mapped what areas and assets of the BCC Estate are most at risk from extreme heat and
flooding. Projections indicated that extreme heat events will increase substantially for
Belfast. There will be an increase in average winter precipitation and in the frequency of
heavy rainfall events. This, coupled with sea level rise represents a significant climate
risk.

There are also projected changes in storminess, and whilst extreme cold events are
projected to become less frequent in the future, they pose a significant risk to BCC. The
‘Big Freeze’ of 2010 and the ‘Beast from the East’ in 2018 highlight that cold/snow events
remain a possibility despite the overall warming trend.

Challenges exist particularly in understanding the cumulative impacts of one or more
extreme weather events happening together or consecutively, placing additional strain
and risk on services. Any increased attention on managing the risks from heat should not
lead to a subsequent decline in attention to managing the risks from cold. Both heat and
cold related health impacts will require health service interventions in the future.

- By 2070, winters are projected to be up to 3.9°C warmer while
S summers could be up to 4.9°C hotter.

© By 2070, winters are projected to be up to 25% wetter, while
summers are projected to be 38% drier.

By 2100, sea levels are projected to rise by up to 94cm.

Goal: Ensuring that BCC is resilient and future-proofed to the impacts of climate change

Obj. 1: Integrate nature-based solutions across Council’s Estate

Obj. 2: Increase the resilience of BCC assets to be able to cope and adapt to the impacts of
climate change

Obj. 3: Promote the integration climate resilience planning across the Council’s Estate

Key short-term actions

The following short term key actions have been identified and are the first step in realising the 3
objectives above.

Update the BCC Climate Risk Assessment in line with the new mandatory Public Body Reporting
requirements (under the Climate Change Act) (2.2)

Apply SUDs policy and guidance (SUDS Manual C753) as standard practice in the Capital Programme
(2.3)

Start to deliver the Tree Establishment Strategy and continue the One Million Trees Programme
3 (2.19)



cc abed

Adaptation to Extreme Weather: Flooding

A Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA) has been carried out identifying what BCC assets are most at risk.

Baseline and Context

BCC assets have been mapped against the UK Climate Projections 2018 data, and a range of factors have been
taken into account to give an indication of climate risk. These include the amount and proximity of trees and
green space to the asset and how much impervious surface there is surrounding each site. Sensitivity factors
such as the number of BCC staff at different locations also affects the risk to BCC.

Belfast is exposed to both surface water and coastal flooding due to its topography and location within the
River Lagan catchment area. For example, for Belfast harbour, the 5 highest tidal surges have all been
recorded since 1994. Large proportions of Belfast City Centre are between 1 and 2 m below extreme tide level,
with 6,000 properties currently considered at significant coastal flood risk. Climate projections indicate that
sea levels around Northern Ireland are expected to rise by up to 0.94m by the end of the century. This will be
the main driver of increased coastal inundation risk. Climate projections also indicate an increase in the
frequency of heavy rainfall events with the potential to increase the frequency and extent of surface water
flooding.

3200006 330000E 340000E
= = T

oo = D g
N ~ ~Tiger sB.\i &
v & Newlodge f Queen's
s PO,
i i
tgdan A
Sha&%ﬂl k..l rick Hill & “"g\ =]
i (S W,

380000N

.lnwm Falls, B s

£ )

370000N
370000N

Combers

2km

I Trees
I Open Spaces (2018)

320000 3300008 3d0000E

More trees and green space within close proximity of BCC assets can help reduce their climate risk through
cooling, providing drainage and sequestering and storing carbon. (Source: BCC Open and Linked Data)

To offset the increased surface water and coastal flood risk faced by BCC assets and as outlined in
The Second Cycle Northern Ireland FRMP 2021 — 2027, a number of coastal and surface water flood
protection works are already underway in Belfast. In addition, BCC has already carried out an
important step in increasing the resilience of its assets to flood risk by mapping and assessing
exposure to both coastal and surface water flood risk. These assessments provide BCC with an
understanding of the areas and assets at risk and allow for the targeting of measures. BCC should
focus on increasing its understanding of the physical vulnerability of assets identified at risk and any
existing flood mitigation measures in place. For example, buildings with basements or which house
critical infrastructure are considered particularly vulnerable to surface water flood risk. On this basis
and through retrofitting, additional resilience and protection measures can be put in place where
required.

320000€

3300008

380000N

370000N

370000N

Impervious
Surface

\..'-

3400006

320000€ 3300008

Impervious surfaces across Belfast which can increase climate risk through the urban heat island effect

(UHI) and increased flood risk. (Source: Copernicus Land Monitoring Service)



v¢ abed

Adaptation to Extreme Weather: Flooding

A Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA) has been carried out identifying what BCC assets are most at risk.

DFI Coastal Flood Risk Assessment

Coastal flood risk extent has been assessed employing DFI coastal flood modelling. The 2080 tidal flood risk
assessment is based on projected sea level rise under a medium emissions scenario (RCP4.5) and accounts
for both a 1/200 year flood and 1/1000 year flood. The recently installed Belfast Tidal Flood Defences are
accounted for and highlight residual risk associated with coastal flood risk for BCC. Significant areas of the
city centre remain exposed to coastal inundation with key assets such as St Georges Market, Victoria Park
and 9 Gloucester Street at potential flood risk under extreme conditions.

BCC assets at risk from Coastal Flooding

KPMG Surface Water Flood Risk Assessment

Climate projections indicate an increase in the frequency of heavy precipitation across Belfast City and this is
particularly the case for the area situated to the northwest of the city centre. Under a high emissions
scenario (RCP8.5) and the likely projection, this area of the city could expect over four heavy rainfall (> 30
mm) days per year by 2070. This is likely to increase the frequency of intense precipitation leading to surface
water flooding with implications for essential services. At the city scale, there is a need to increase the
capacity of the drainage system and increase permeability of surfaces through sustainable drainage systems
(SUDs) and nature based solutions (Nbs) as part of street upgrades, regeneration projects, and other
planned construction projects.

BCC assets at risk from Surface Water Flooding

320000E 330000€ 340000E
empNgprCk = 7 i J
Bonsary v . o / 500 m Harfand
—— o Mossiey T / Tiger's 3a & Wollf
= / r——
- ydott rganssiong Queen's Island
o \/ New Lodge 8
\/ 3 ﬁ e
Newtownabbey. I’ 2
1eabbe L
« Glengormiey niesiver | Carrick il ! / =g
Rughpark 4 -
o Ly,
L / a1 V5% .
VaruteGaloan : 00 e =/ 7
g hd Ballymacarret | Z
g o oy
8 Beliad® o I ]
R ® i° 2
t P ’
ax L o
) A .,
% Donegail Fass” Willowfield
< e W |
-~
Ok
oo Qundonald A N
Bamybeen —
[ \
Hannahatgan
2 Anider
= ; oy :
< > ~ ‘ (=3
b= (=]
3 v Rewtwnbreds E
= ;e f, x sione, SO NP AR Coastal Flood Depth m
- ’ “a . W (1 in 1000 Year Event)
‘\ - e >|.0m
>3 #nil e 03-1.0m
2kmi L ~ U ¥ “ Morieyresaf e <03m
—_— \ :
Outside Flood Extent

320000

330000E

340000

320000

330000€

340000E

320000E 330000E 340000E
= - g Duncain @5
= & ek 500 m
=== & % Tiger Ba; o
e L4 ‘
o o n's I
4 New Lodor & e
o i e
;“ o2 ‘_
§ ° |
76" (um(:&lll e 4
WShall e e ® ;
® $ige :°
z LR z
£ o o p g
8 Lower Falls . g
2 \ 'sewggv‘ (o § g
a0 of - 8
% )
vWRGOd S oy 4 L
s A * { 0s.8f
A "* & ,‘[Pneﬁa.- P.\}s Willowfi
- P—
W
ik Dundonald A N
Chcae® uatybeen - k
na
z z
8 g
3 Surface Water =3
5 Flood Risk 153
s = Maximum
how o) i
" n rElZSlﬂg
Risk
2 km Moneyresgt
v - Minimum



Gg abed

Adaptation to Extreme Weather: Heat-related risk

A Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA) has been carried out identifying what BCC assets are most at risk.

Extreme Heat assessment

To assess projected changes in frequency of heatwaves for Belfast, KPMG employed the UK Climate
Projections 2018 (UKCP18) and more specifically the UKCP18 Local projections (2.2 km). The image below
shows the projected annual average number of warm days (one on which daily maximum temperatures are
greater than 25°C) for 2070 (2061-2080) under a high emissions scenario. Areas to the southwest of the city
centre are expected to experience the highest frequency of warm days per year with up 40 warm days (39.6)
per year projected for the period 2061-2080. This is likely a reflection of the built-up area exacerbating

projected temperature increases as a result of the Urban Heat Island (UHI) effect.

3BO00ON

370000N

Projected numbers of days above 25°C for the RCP8.5 extreme scenario for 2061-2080

320000€ 330000€

3200006

380000N

370000N

7

Scenario: RCP8.S
Period: 2061-2080
Unit: Days
Source: UKCPI8

Exposure of BCC assets to heat-related risk

The CCRA also assessed the impact of heat-related risk on BCC assets. The table below details the 10 BCC
assets considered at the highest level of risk. These sites are situated in the urban area where levels of heat-
related risk are being driven by not only projected number of warm days but also as a result of the
proportion of sealed surface in proximity to the site and a deficit of open space and trees. Sealed surface
such as asphalt, concrete and buildings which have replaced the natural landscape and vegetation
exacerbate the UHI effect. Green/open space and trees also serve to decrease the UHI effect and provide

areas of reprieve for populations during extreme heat events.

BCC sites considered to be at the highest level of risk from extreme heat.

320000E

330000E

340000€

Templépptnck
iy 33

Ciady

380000N

pas

8101

370000N

2 km

095

8101

vyde Park ¥, Glengormiey

T3 7
~op /

N e MoRKSTON
Mossiey Ml /
~ /
R
.
A ¥

Newtownabbey "
wnieaboey
uipark
Rathcoote! PEP
Hightown ‘ A

N e ot

” ) vitagé

75“"

Lower Falls

Duncair @, § i
\ .

-
®Belfa
r ..

Bhong .
D ) ‘
Crommeiions & 198 eg ® o ®
Aoy’ @2 S f , 0.8 .
w0y’ @ nelal Pass

500m
T

Queen's I

(rd

380000N

< T ] Willowf
Uee (Eton ol ® / ) ok & il
A skegoei 4 w70
Oidpa & *K knagoney
gedplier prerieet /e
A T4 ool I N @ Quesns luand 2 /
Oa L ” o
% fs; T
: ® ’10‘ 8 ig e ® 5
L ) v/, L
< o
.8y " ,‘: 3 L "+ 0¥ Biiyhagamorg pundonald a0 N
Bailymurphy 9 f - o° . - o Balybeen T
(] L ol e jreRTy 50| % ®oenen ol \
DoperFai ,,2"«,,‘.,‘ ) 50 o2 @nanit - 3\
nahit 4 °
b i % e g /z"""‘” .‘s.-nw.eq' ‘(4u.ﬂlq"’ Branil
Co Aot © ° 7 IR .
) .
Poleglass . \//‘"""“"" Y
(3 - > g 3 aa
< ¥
g d " Wewtbwnbreda
< S gl W@y 3 ) Heat Risk
@ . . K(. fecMalong Four Winds A
Moutttages 0@y o P e § fuEN Maximum
PN \of'? ¢ 3 Py
Pasved \ s
MiRown o ety ) Edelberry Purdysbirn = lncagaﬁing
'~ i " o
m.,»-e.m.{ 3 ~ Minimum

320000€

330000E

340000E

370000N



Adaptation to Extreme Weather: Action Roadmap

Goal: Ensuring BCC is future proofed and resilient to climate Risk
Short-term (2025)

Nature-based

BCC Estate

Development

Solutions

Planning

Start to deliver the Tree Establishment
Strategy and continue the One Million

Trees Programme (2.19)

Update the BCC
Climate Risk
Assessment in line
with the new
mandatory Public Body
Reporting
requirements (under
the Climate Change
Act) (2.2)

Apply SUDs policy and
guidance (SUDS Manual
C753) as standard
practice in the Capital
Programme (2.3)

Medium-term (2025-2030)

Long-term (2030+)

Include NbS as arisk consideration across

Raise awareness of NbS as a
resilience measure (2.4) the Capital Programme (2.6)

Develop plan to identify, assess, develop
and maintain and enhance existing NbS for

Monitor, maintain and measure impact of new
resilience measures across Estate and

climate resilience (2.5) Capital Programme (2.7)

Initiate a series of building-level

Climate Risk Assessments in

preparation for mandatory Public

Body Reporting for buildings

identified at most risk from extreme

weather events (2.1)

Using the heat risk Implement heat-
Review best practice assessment, develop sensitive design
design standards relevant guidance on heating guidance and policy
for overheating (2.8) sensitive building across Capital

design (2.9) programme (2.10)

Identify additional
resilience measures (2.11)

Integrate climate risk scores identified in the
CCRA into the BCC Asset Management system o o
L . . 4 scale resilience plan for priority
and utilise to identify areas for more detailed T . s
. - - resilience areas of estate identified
Climate Risk Assessments on priority lan (2.13) in CCRA (2.14)
sites/buildings and new developments (2.12) P ' :

Develop asset Implement asset scale

Establish monitoring and reporting system for resilience across the BCC estate (2.15)

Invest in projects that aim to increase resilience and mainstream nature-based solutions (2.16)

Facilitate a Catchment Based Management approach to flood risk management (2.17)

Develop Heat Protection Plan for Council Staff (2.18)

T aAn2algo

Z3M3[q0

€ analqo



Adaptation Extreme Weather: Action Roadmap

/€ abed

Goal: Ensuring BCC is future proofed and resilient to flood risk

No

Action

Timeframe

Lead department

Supporting partners

Indicator(s)

Outcomes and benefits

Initiate a series of building-level Climate Risk Assessments in

City and Organisational

2.1 preparation for mandatory Public Body Reporting for buildings M Director of Property and projects Increased capacity of BCC staff
. e . Strategy >
identified at most risk from extreme weather events ( @Q
Update the BCC Climate Risk Assessment in line with the new . L
2.2 mandatory Public Body Reporting requirements (under the S City and Organisational Strategy g;trztind Organisationa Updated CRA approved by CMT Q
Climate Change Act) gy
Apply SUDs policy and guidance (SUDS Manual C753) as standard . . City and Organisational SUDs policy and guidance approved
2. L . D . )
3 practice in the Capital Programme S irector of Property and Projects Strategy by CMT/Committee &
. L . L City and Organisational h
2.4 Raise awareness of NbS as a resilience measure M City and Organisational Strategy Increased capacity of BCC staff
Strategy @ e ﬂ
. . L . . Developed plan to maintain and
2.5 Develop pla.n FO identify, as.sess, dev.e.lop and maintain and M Director of Property and Projects City and Organisational enhance existing NbS for flood
enhance existing NbS for climate resilience Strategy . @ ﬂ
protection Q g
Citv and Oreanisational Increased capacity of BCC staff to
2.6 Include NbS as a risk consideration across the Capital Programme M Director of Property and Projects v g implement NbS as a resilience >
Strategy {
measure
Monitor, maintain and measure impact of new resilience . . City and Organisational Maintenance and enhancement plan
2. 5 D . )
/ measures across Estate and Capital Programme M irector of Property and Projects Strategy implemented (@Q ﬂ
Citv and Oreanisational Summary document of best practice
2.8 Review best practice design standards relevant for overheating M Director of Property and Projects Str\z;te & design standards in context of @ ﬂ
gy overheating e
29 Using the heat risk assessment, develop guidance on heating M Director of Property and Projects City and Organisational Guidance on heat sensitive building

sensitive building design

Strategy

design developed

Qe FA2 B

See Appendix 1 for status, timeframe and outcomes and benefits key



Adaptation Extreme Weather: Action Roadmap

8¢ abed

Goal: Ensuring BCC is future proofed and resilient to flood risk

No

Action

Timeframe

Lead department

Supporting partners

Indicator(s)

Outcomes and benefits

Implement heat-sensitive design guidance and policy across

No. of new builds where heat-

2.10 Capital programme M Director of Property and Projects n/a §ensitive design standards where ( @&ﬂ L{ &
implemented
2.11 Identify additional resilience measures M Director of Property and Projects City and Organisational No. of additional resilience measures
’ ¥ perty ) Strategy identified Q&ﬂ L{ &
Integrate climate risk scores identified in the CCRA into the BCC Risk scores integrated into BCC asset
Asset Management system and utilise to identify areas for more City and Organisational management system ﬂ { &
2.12 ) A . R o Director of Property and Project i i @& L
detailed Climate Risk Assessments on priority sites/buildings and M Irector ot Froperty and Frojects Strategy Completed de.ta|led‘flood n.Sk
assessments, including audit of
new developments -
existing flood defence measures
2.13 Develop asset scale resilience plan M Director of Property and Projects City and Organisational Asset scale I’ESI.|IEI"ICE plan approved Q& &
Strategy by CMT/Committee
214 !mple.rpenF asset scale resilience plan for priority areas of estate M Director of Property and Projects City and Organisational Plan implemented ( Q&ﬂ .{ @
identified in CCRA Strategy
Establish monitoring and reporting system for resilience across Director (Operatlgnal) of - City and Organisational Monitoring and reporting system (§ &ﬂ L{ &
2.15 M Property and Projects/Facilities .
the BCC estate Strategy approved by CMT/Committee
Management
Invest in projects that aim to increase resilience and mainstream . . City and Organisational . .
2.16 nature-based solutions M Director of Property and Projects Strategy Projects implemented @ &ﬂ .{ ﬁ
217 Facilitate a Catchment Based Management approach to flood risk M CNS City and Organisational /
management Strategy Qﬂ { ﬁ
. . Director of Property and Projects City and Organisational
2.18 Develop Heat Protection Plan for Council Staff M Strategy (@Qﬂ " &
219 Start to deliver the Tree Establishment Strategy and continue the S CNS City and Neighbourhood No. Tree Strategy targets achieved (@&ﬂ .‘ @

One Million Trees Programme

Services

See Appendix 1 for status, timeframe and outcomes and benefits key




Energy and Buildings: Introduction &k

The Energy and Buildings theme aims to decarbonise and improve the energy use efficiency across the BCC estate.

Baseline and context

It is estimated that BCC has 199 operational assets! and based on BCC data, the top 3

electricity and natural gas users across the estate are Waterfront Hall, Belfast Zoo and
Andersonstown Leisure Centre.

Raising awareness and engaging BCC staff on building energy use is a quick-win for BCC to
strengthen its energy efficiency through behavioural change e.g. switching off lights in the
office and turning off laptops after use.

While it is important to consider the full estate, efforts will be targeted on the top energy

users as a first step to deliver material impact. BCC has already completed energy audits on
-tgur of its sites (City Hall, Duncrue, Adelaide and Cecil Ward) with a audits commissioned for a
urther five sites (mostly leisure centres). This phased approach to energy audits will continue
(%1 parallel with commencing retrofit works.

dwhole building approach will be taken as part of a phased retrofit programme to improve

e building fabric, improve controls and reduce peak electricity demand such as LED lighting.
As part of the Capital Programme, BCC will undertake whole life carbon assessments.
Additional interventions that focus on NbS and biodiversity enhancements will also provide an

indirect opportunity for climate mitigation for the estate through enhanced carbon
sequestration.

Outside of retrofitting the existing estate, BCC will enhance its procurement and generation of
renewable energy. This will include consideration of entering into power-purchase
agreements. In the medium to long-term BCC will focus on exploring the feasibility of micro-
generation and energy storage.

Source:1) DfE 2) DAERA

Developing climate actions for Buildings and Energy

Achieving a net zero estate and energy system is essential to enable BCC to achieve its

decarbonisation targets. To achieve this, both existing and new developments need to be
considered.

Goal: Achievement of a low-carbon and sustainable energy system and Council estate
Obj. 1: Enhancing and enabling energy efficiency across the Council estate

Obj. 2: Use low-carbon / renewable energy sources across the Council estate

Key short-term actions

The following key, short-term actions identified for BCC comprise a subset of the actions identified
in the roadmap (next page), to help with the start of CAP implementation.

Scope out a strategy to increase renewable and low-carbon energy use through corporate
power purchase agreements

2 Complete a second phase of building energy audits

Launch a phased metering and retrofitting programme across BCC's top energy users
3 based on the findings of the building level audits of Adelaide, Cecil Ward, City Hall and
Duncrue

4 Develop the integration of whole life carbon assessments as standard practice in the
Capital Programme



Energy and Buildings: Action Roadmap e !

Goal: To achieve a low-carbon and sustainable energy system and Council estate
Short-term (2025) Medium-term (2025-2030)

Long-term (2030+)

Launch a phased metering and
Complete a building- retrofitting programme across BCC’s
Develop a phased level energy audit of top energy users based on the findings
approach to BCC’s BCC’s top four of the building level audits of Adelaide,
ildine- Cecil Ward, City Hall and Duncrue (3.11 ; —

bu'lf’mg level energy energy users (3.3) Y ( ) Raise awareness and engage key staff on building energy use
audits and retrofitting 3.1)

programme (3.2) :

Incorporate smart meters and C
corporate energy management software (3.6)

Complete a second phase of building energy

audits - (Andersonstown LC, Lisnasharragh LC,
Templemore Av LC, Brook LC) and the Waterfront Complete a phased programme of retrofitting across the remaining
Hall (3.4) Council estate based on the findings of the building level audit (3.12)

Energy efficiency
T aA3fqo

Develop the integration of whole life carbon assessments as standard practice in
the Capital Programme (3.8)

Ensure NbS such as green roofs are integrated in all Council-supported and new Council
developments (3.9)

Integrate biodiversity net gain assessments as standard practice in new Council development
projects (3.10)

sources across Belfast (3.5 : > : .
(3.5) Council-owned sites (3.13) Council-owned sites (3.16)

Scope out a strategy to increase renewable and low- : Ensure a supportive Council-level policy context for renewable energy
carbon energy use through corporate power : generating facilities considering technologies such as hydrogen, wind,
purchase agreements (3.15) I solar, bio-methane and HVO, geothermal and tidal (3.7)

Low-carbon / renewable sources
r4-LV:6E](:To)

Invest in projects that aim to promote additional
renewable energy across BCC (3.14)




Energy and Buildings 0k

Goal: To achieve a low-carbon and sustainable energy system and Council estate

No Action Timeframe Lead department Supporting partners Indicator(s) Outcomes and benefits

Education / awareness raising

be selected

the energy management system

. . - No. of staff educational initiatives
. . Director of City and Organisational X .
3.1 Raise awareness and engage key staff on building energy use Strate n/a implemented focused on sustainable
&Y building energy use
Capacity building
33 Devel.op'a phased approach to BCC’s building-level energy audits and Director of Property and Projects n/a n/a ( @& A
retrofitting programme
wrsnn O &
3.3 Complete a building-level energy audit of BCC’s top four energy users Director of Property and Projects Service provider, to be selected Completed building-level audit for top
U energy users
Q o
Complete a second phase of building energy audits - (Andersonstown . . ) &
) 3.4 LC, Lisnasharragh LC, Templemore Av LC, Brook LC) and the Waterfront Director of Property and Projects Service provider, to be selected Eziln:fi)r:etse{j building-level audit for all e
I Hall &
[N
35 Map and analyse low carbon and renewable energy sources across Director of Property and Projects irector of City and Organisational No. of analyses, e.g. Local Area Energy
Belfast Strategy Plan completed
Potentially with service provider, to Number of smart meters installed
3.6 Incorporate smart meters and corporate energy management software Director of Property and Projects v P ! Number of buildings integrated into

Policy/planning

Ensure a supportive Council-level policy context for renewable energy

NIE Networks

) - . o ) ) Di £p Proi
3.7 generat.mg facilities, considering technologies s.uch as hydrogen, wind, irector of Property and Projects Department for the Economy n/a

solar, bio-methane and HVO, geothermal and tidal

Develop the integration of whole life carbon assessments as standard I Potentially with service provider, to Inclusion of Whole Life Carbon. .
3.8 L N Strategic Director Place & Economy Assessments as standard practice in

practice in the Capital Programme be selected .

the Capital Programme

39 Ensure NbS such as green roofs are integrated in all Council-supported Director of Property and Projects Director of City and Organisational

and new Council developments

Strategy

No. of new developments integrating
NbS (@ (G & ﬂ

bbb BH

See Appendix 1 for status, timeframe and outcomes and benefits key




2 abed

Energy and Buildings E@l

Goal: To achieve a low-carbon and sustainable energy system and Council estate

No Action Timeframe Lead department Supporting partners Indicator(s) Outcomes and benefits

Delivery / implementation

3.10 Integrate b!odlversny net galn'assessments as standard practice in M Director of Property and Projects Poteptlally with service * No. of biodiversity net gain assessments <§ Q L{ ﬂ é
new Council development projects provider, to be selected completed
Launch a phased metering and retr.oflttlng progrfan'?me across B.CC s . . Director of City and - No. of buildings with completed

3.11 top energy users based on the findings of the building level audits of S Director of Property and Projects Organisational Strate retrofittin
Adelaide, Cecil Ward, City Hall and Duncrue & gy 5 ( @@
Complete a phased programme of retrofitting across the remaining . . Director of City and *  No. of buildings with completed

. R - g R Director of Property and Projects s -

312 Council estate based on the findings of the building level audit M/L : perty ! Organisational Strategy retrofitting ( E?@

313 Explore 'Ehe development of renewable microgeneration at Council- M Director of Property and Projects NIE Networks . N(.). of Counu!-owned sites with
owned sites microgeneration
Invest in projects that aim to promote additional renewable ener; Potentially with renewable * No. of renewable ener; rojects invested

3.14 across BCpC ) P 8y M Director of Property and Projects energy project developers, to in : gy proj

be selected

Scope out a strategy to increase renewable and low-carbon energy
use through corporate power purchase agreements

S Director of Property and Projects Potentially with service *  No. of buildings / sites with CPPA / GPA

3.15 provider, to be selected

3.16 Explore the development of energy storage at Council owned sites L Director of Property and Projects NIE Networks * No. of sites assessed

See Appendix 1 for status, timeframe and outcomes and benefits key



Transport: Introduction ==

The Transport theme aims to decarbonise BCC’s fleet and reduce emissions associated with employee commuting and business travel.

Baseline and context
Transport includes the emissions associated with BCC's fleet, business travel and employee
commuting. BCC currently has 432 vehicles! which emit approximately 1,582,415 kgCO,e per year

and account for approximately 11% of BCC'’s calculated carbon footprint2. Of these vehicles, refuse

collection vehicles account for over 50% of the carbon emissions. To transition the fleet to net
zero, BCC has completed work on converting compatible vehicles to hydrotreated vegetable oil
and has started procuring low emission vehicles (LEV). Business travel accounts for approximately
0.5% of BCC’s calculated carbon footprint and the Council currently does not track emissions
associated with employee commuting — which is recommended under Tools for the Transition
(Action 1,10) to expand scope of GHG data collection and reporting for scope 3.

BCC has completed a Fleet Review! that aims to transition its fleet to net zero. This fleet
eplacement strategy is currently being considered under the financial thematic sessions for the
CC’'s medium-term plan but has not yet been formally accepted. BCC will focus on delivering on
he fleet replacement strategy to support the achievement of low and zero carbon Council owned

Cldeet - decarbonising an important source of BCC's scope 1 emissions. Outside of BCC's fleet, the

Council will also target emissions associated with business travel and employee commuting.

To reduce emissions associated with employee commuting, BCC will enhance existing- and create
incentives, policies and initiatives to enable behaviour change and to embrace low carbon
transport related operations. Options include: expanding the existing cycle to work scheme;
installing staff LEV chargers at preferred parking spaces at Council-owned sites; and repurposing
parking spaces for car clubs and cycle parking and integrating appropriate facilities to support
active travel e.g. shower and changing facilities. For new developments the Council will establish a
policy for them to prioritise walking and cycling infrastructure, including the integration of NbS
such as green corridors. BCC should also run communication and education campaigns to socialise
the Council's sustainable transport initiatives and the Sustainable Staff Travel Plan. This form of
awareness raising can be an effective tool to achieve behavioural change.

Source: 1) AECOM Fleet Review 2) APSE Net Zero Carbon Emissions Trajectory for Belfast City Council

To decarbonise business travel emissions, BCC will review its Business Travel Policy to align with
the sustainable travel hierarchy i.e. promotion of active travel, public transport, shared travel
over private car use and air travel.

Developing climate actions for transport

BCC will transition its fleet to net zero, reduce business travel emissions and promote sustainable
transport for employee commuting.

Goal: Achievement of net zero and sustainable Council-related transport
Obj. 1: Transitioning to low and / or zero carbon Council-related transport fleet

Obj. 2: Promotion of sustainable transport modes, including active travel and use of low
emission vehicles as well as supporting business travel to align with the sustainable travel
hierarchy

Key short-term actions

The following key, short-term actions identified for BCC comprise of a subset of the actions
identified in the roadmap (next page), to help with the start of CAP implementation.

Through sustainable procurement, aim to use local suppliers to the Council to reduce miles travelled

1
within the confines of procurement legislation and Local Govt Act restrictions (4.4)

) Review the Business Travel Policy and develop the Sustainable Staff Travel Plan to encourage modal
shift, active travel and more fuel-efficient driving for Council staff (4.1)

3 Conduct a commercial assessment of Council land suitable for installing low emission vehicle (LEV)

charging points (4.9)

Commence work on repurposing staff parking spaces for cycle racks and integrate appropriate
facilities to support active travel e.g. shower and changing facilities (4.10)

37



0

Transport: Action Roadmap =

Goal: To achieve net zero and sustainable Council-related transport

Improve Council-related
freight operations (4.7)

Short-term (2025) Medium-term (2025-2030) Long-term (2030+)
. o
Agree Council approach to funding :?Slll\:g{n%nt:‘Zetgﬁgftiip:gcﬁygr:n?rategy’ ®
for fleet replacement strategy (4.3 ; s
b 9y (4-3) conversion to LEVs (4.8) s
[
Review the Business Travel Policy and develop the Sustainable Staff .. . . . " :
. : Run communication and education campaigns to socialise the Council's sustainable
Travel Plan to encourage modal shift, active travel and more fuel transport initiatives (4.6)
efficient driving for Council staff (4.1) P :
L Establish a Council-level policy for new developments to
g prioritise walking and cycling infrastructure, including the
& Through sustainable procurement, aim to use local suppliers to the integration of NbS such as green corridors, in line with the
g Council to reduce miles travelled within the confines of procurement Local Development Plan (4.2)
@ legislation and Local Govt Act restrictions (4.4)
Q
© o
= Develop employee incentives to encourage .%'.
g sustainable transport across the Council (4.5) =3
> s
" . N
=) Commence work on repurposing staff parking spaces for cycle racks -
E= and integrate appropriate facilities to support active travel e.g. shower Expand existing cycle-to-
o f iliti work scheme (4.11)
a and changing facilities (4.10)
s
U) _

Conduct a commercial assessment of Council land suitable for installing
low emission vehicle (LEV) charging points (4.9)




Transport

Goal: To achieve net zero and sustainable Council-related transport

No Action Timeframe Lead department Supporting partners Indicator(s) Outcomes and benefits

G obed

Education / awareness raising

4.1

Review the Business Travel Policy and develop the Sustainable Staff
Travel Plan to encourage modal shift, active travel and more fuel-
efficient driving for Council staff

Director of City and Organisational
Strategy, Director of External Affairs,
Marketing and Communications

Director of Human
Resources

No. of education campaigns run

No. of people reached by campaigns

No. of people changing their travel habits
(pre and post campaign)

Scope 3 emissions, CO2e

= 28 &

Policy/planning

Establish a Council-level policy for new developments to prioritise

Strategic Director of Place

4.2 walking and cycllng |nfra.stryctur(?, including the integration of NbS Director of Property and Projects and Economy Policy developed (@ o /g '{ A

such as green corridors, in line with the Local Development Plan

. . Strategic Director of Finance and City and Neighbourhood .
4.3  Agree Council approach to funding for fleet replacement strategy 8 Y ) & Funding plan agreed and complete
Resources Services ﬂ &
Through sustainable procurement, aim to use local suppliers to the . .
X R L . . . Director of City and X
4.4 Council to reduce miles travelled within the confines of procurement Strategic Director of Corporate Services o Updated procurement policy
- . Organisational Strategy
legislation and Local Govt Act restrictions
Director of City and

45 Develop employge incentives to encourage sustainable transport Director of Human Resources Organlsatlonal Stra.tegy, No. of |ncent|ve.s. rollec! out -

across the Council Active Travel Working No. of staff availing of incentives ﬂ ﬁ

Group
Run communication and education campaigns to socialise the . Director of City and .
. D fH R o
46 Council's sustainable transport initiatives irector of Human Resources Organisational Strategy Policy developed /g &
No. of vehicles impacted
% improvement in freight operation
. . . Director of City and Neighbourhood Director of City and icienci

4.7 Improve Council-related freight operations "ty ‘ghbou "ty efficiencies

Services

Organisational Strategy

Tonnes of CO2 reduced as a result of
improvement
% carbon reduction achieved

Q
b

See Appendix 1 for status, timeframe and outcomes and benefits key




Transport

Goal: To achieve net zero and sustainable Council-related transport

No Action Timeframe Lead department Supporting partners Indicator(s) Outcomes and benefits

*  No. of vehicles replaced / introduced

. . . - . . . * % of strategy implemented
Deliver on the Fleet Replacement Strategy, including the transition Director City and Neighbourhood .
4.8 to HVO and conversion to LEVs M Services n/a I:rg::gsy()f €02 reduced as a result of /g ﬁ

* % carbon reduction achieved

Conduct a commercial assessment of Council land suitable for . . Director of City and Organisational .
. S D t f P rt d t .
U 2 installing low emission vehicle (LEV) charging points rector of Froperty and projects Strategy Assessment report approved by Council /g L{ @
QO Commence work on repurposing staff parking spaces for cycle Director of City and Organisational * No. of parking spaces repurposed
Q 4.10 racks and integrate appropriate facilities to support active travel S Director of Finance Strate *  No. Shower/changing facilities ﬂ L{ &
® e.g. shower and changing facilities &Y implemented
D
. Strategic Direct f Fi d -
o 4.11 Expand existing cycle-to-work scheme M Director of Human Resources Rer:oﬁil:(;s rector ot Finance an *  No. of staff availing of scheme /ﬂ L{ @

See Appendix 1 for status, timeframe and outcomes and benefits key



/v abed

Waste Management: Introduction l.?."

The Waste Management theme aims to reduce waste generated by BCC and its associated emissions and to transition the Council to a circular economy.

Baseline and context

The generation and management of waste is an everyday challenge for BCC. At an organisational
level, BCC currently does not track internal waste generation through its own operationsi.e.
across BCC owned and controlled buildings, events etc. However, progress has been made at the
city-level to track and report on waste generation as well as the associated carbon impacts
through the recent More Circularity Less Carbon report which found that the carbon impact of
household waste is estimated at 360,000 tCO,e/year - nearly 20x higher than BCC's quantified
carbon emissions (18,783 tCO,e)%2.

Data on waste generated across Belfast indicates that food, paper, cardboard and plastic waste
are the largest waste streams?!. Understanding the carbon impact of waste flows and
management types is critical to support future decision making. For example, sending paper and
card straight to landfill results in 50x carbon emissions compared to sending to a recycling facility,
based on latest emissions factors3. However, the embodied carbon impacts of waste material (i.e.
emissions from the extraction of resources, production, manufacturing, etc. of the corresponding
products) are always the highest contributor to the net carbon impacts of waste?!, which is why
waste prevention offers the greatest carbon savings.

Looking beyond the organisational level, BCC has an important role in facilitating the transition to
a circular economy through education and awareness campaigns as well as through the provision
of sustainable waste management services - actions to strengthen this role should be assessed as
part of the Belfast city-wide CAP.

For BCC as an organisation, an internal Waste Management Plan can support the Council to
effectively understand, manage and reduce waste it generates. A robust plan will also embrace
the circular economy, rethinking the approach to waste and viewing waste as a valuable
resource, whilst optimising and supporting reuse, repair and refurbishment activities. BCC should
additionally implement measures that track and report on internal waste generation whilst
ensuring staff are informed on the climate impact of waste as well as

Source: 1) More Circularity Less Carbon 2) APSE Net Zero Carbon Emissions
Trajectory for Belfast City Council 3) BEIS GHG conversion factors

ways to reduce associated impacts and embrace the circular economy. These actions will enable
more targeted interventions to be identified and implemented and for progress to be tracked for the
Council at an organisational level.

Developing climate actions for waste management

Sustainable waste management is a key area to be addressed for BCC to mitigate climate change.
To achieve this, BCC should implement measures to track waste generated in its operations and
establish an internal Waste Management Plan to establish a roadmap of initiatives to support the
transition to a circular economy. When developing climate actions under waste management, the
focus of each action was aligned with the achievement of the following goal and associated
objectives:

Goal: Enabling the Council to support the transition to a more circular economy

Obj. 1: Reduce the volume of waste generated by the Council and implement
actions to transition the Council to a more circular economy

Key short-term actions
The following key, short-term actions identified for BCC comprise of a subset of the actions

identified in the roadmap (next page), to help with the start of CAP implementation.

1 Continue to progress the proposal for a single use plastics policy for the Council (5.4)

2 Initiate an internal Council-level Waste Management Plan which aligns with the Waste
Management Hierarchy and with an emphasis on green waste (5.3)

3 Develop a mechanism to track and report on internal Council generated waste (5.7)



N
Waste Management: Action Roadmap t,}

Goal: Enabling the Council and its operations to support the transition to a more circular economy

Short-term (2025) Medium-term (2025-2030)

Develop a mechanism to track and report on internal Council
generated waste (5.7)

Integrate more climate messaging into existing communication and
education campaigns for staff to improve waste management (5.1)

Review the findings from the 'More Circularity, Less Carbon’
project and BCC waste management pilot studies (5.2)

Initiate an internal Council-level Waste Management Plan
which aligns with the Waste Management Hierarchy and

with an emphasis on green waste (5.3)

T 2A23[q0

Continue to progress the proposal for a single use
plastics policy for the Council (5.4)

Introduce an internal Council circular economy initiative with links
to the Sustainable Food Partnership internal coordination group
(5.5)

Work in partnerships with food re-distribution centres/organisations
to reduce food waste (5.6)

on
C
[}
g >
s E
Ec
28
©
05
::)o
Q5
o
»
2‘.0
*;'E
-
T 2
8=
5%
Q5
o O
o O
(O
££
c
S o
“—
O'(T)
O c
EE
D+
o2
%)
gc
= O
=
(8]
S®
oS
o}
o




61 abed

4

Waste Management t.}

Goal: Enabling the Council and its operations to support the transition to a more circular economy

\[¢) Action Timeframe Lead department Supporting partners Indicator(s) Outcomes and benefits
Education / awareness raising
*  No. Of campaigns
51 Integrate more climate messaging into existing communication and M Director of External Affairs, Director of City and *  No. of workshops held ﬂ L{ &
"™ education campaigns for staff to improve waste management Marketing and Communications Organisational Strategy *  No. of people engaged
* No. of actions resulting from engagement
Capacity building
52 Review the findings from the More ClrFuIarlty, Less Carbon' project M DlreFtor of City and Neighbourhood DII‘GCt(:.)I‘ of City and « No. of actions implemented ﬂ &
and BCC waste management pilot studies Services Organisational Strategy
Policy/planning
. . ¢ Council-level Waste Management Plan
. . . . Director of Economic .
Initiate an internal Council-level Waste Management Plan which . . . X completed that supports the reporting and
R R R ) . Director of City and Neighbourhood Development, Director of . R
5.3 aligns with the Waste Management Hierarchy and with an emphasis S . . o tracking of Council generated waste and sets out
Services City and Organisational . . "
on green waste targeted, time-bound actions to transition the
Strategy X R
Council to a more circular economy
. . . . Di £ Ci . . .
5.4 Continue t.o progress the proposal for a single use plastics policy for s TBC |rect9rq City and « Single Use Plastics Policy completed /g &
the Council Organisational Strategy
. . o Di f E | Affairs,
Introduce an internal Council circular economy initiative with links to Director of City and Organisational |recto.r of Externa airs o ﬂ L{ ﬁ
5.5 R L L M Marketing and ¢ Internal initiative implemented
the Sustainable Food Partnership internal coordination group Strategy 2o
Communications
5.6 Work in partnerships with food re-distribution centres/organisations M Director of City and Neighbourhood Director of City and *  No. of partnerships set up ﬂ . &
" toreduce food waste Services Organisational Strategy * Reduction (in tonnes) of food waste {
Delivery/implementation
57 Develop a mechanism to track and report on internal Council S Director of City and Neighbourhood To be identified by BCC if *  Tracking system set up /g &
" generated waste Services required. *  Reporting system set up

See Appendix 1 for status, timeframe and outcomes and benefits key



o - © 2023 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms 44
‘ www‘belfaStclty'gov.u klc' 'mate-cha nge affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.



I

CLIMATE
ACTION

05-5
Appendix 1

Monitoring, Learning
and Reporting
Framework

& www.belfastcity.gov.uk/climate-change



Appendix 1.1

Tools for Transition : MLR

Metric

Action

Objectives

Outcome indicator

Data requirements

1.14 Develop a sustainable food policy * To develop a council food policy * Policy established * n/a e Cross departmental group * Internal food waste

for the Council that addresses waste, established and policy created * Finance data relating to food
sourcing, packaging, emissions * Events data

measurement and an events protocol.

1.7 Develop and launch an accessible * To have all the risks and actions in * No of staff accessing the * Platform created with all climate ¢ Council has a data platform that + Climate risk data

climate data platform to track progress one accessible place platform risks and actions accessible is used by all staff * Adaptation actions

on delivering climate adaptation and
mitigation actions

o |

Mitigation actions

IQ\JJZ Develop a sustainable/ low carbon
f&acurement policy and supplier

ance documents to support a
tfdnsition to an inclusive, net zero and
rB¥lient future

To reduce scope 3 emissions .
associated with purchased goods and
services

To support climate action across the
value chain for BCC

Scope 3 emissions associated
with purchased goods and
services

All procurement policy and
supplier guidance documents
updated to align with the net
zero transition and circular
economy

* Procurement policy and supplier
documents updated to with the
net zero transition, including a
focus on the circular economy

* Reduced scope 3 emissions
associated with purchased
goods and services

Existing procurement policy and
supplier guidance documents
Scope 3 emissions from purchased
goods and services

Net zero and circular economy
criteria for suppliers

1.18 Prepare departments for data
collection required for Public Body
Reporting under the Climate Change Act

To be ready for Public Body .
Reporting under the Climate Act

No of staff engaged in data .
collection

Data collected on time and in
the right format

* All data needed for Public Body
Reporting is collected on time
and in the right format

Lists of staff with access to data
List of existing related datasets

1.19 Prepare mitigation report (Oct
2025) and adaptation report (March
2026) for submission to DAERA in line
with Public Body Reporting
requirements

To create a mitigation report andan
adaptation report

2 reports created .

Both reports created on time

* Both reports are submitted to
DAERA in line with requirements

All data relating to scope 1 and 2
emissions (gas, electricity, oil, fuel)
Planned and delivered actions from
this CAP




Appendix 1

Adaptation Climate Risk: MLR

Action

Objectives

Outcome indicator

Data requirements

2.2 Update the BCC Climate
Risk Assessment in line with
the new mandatory Public
Body Reporting requirements
(under the Climate Change
Act)

To ensure BCC Climate Risk Assessment in line with
the new mandatory Public Body Reporting
requirements

Updated CRA

Precautionary approach
defined

Implementation of a
precautionary approach to
Capital Programme
development projects

Guidance document outlining
precautionary approach to Capital
Programme developed

Capital projects undertaken in line
with developed precautionary
approach.

Risk assessment (flood, frost, heat
etc)

Register of proposed Capital
Programme developments

2.3 Apply SUDs policy and
guidance (SUDS Manual C753)
as standard practice in the
Capital Programme (2.3)

The development of policy and guidance to enhance
existing NbS for flood protection across the BCC
estate

Policy and guidance
developed

Review of existing
infrastructure/ existing NbS
for flood protection

Completed policy and guidance
that promotes flood protection

Increase in flood resilience
delivered through NbS

SUDs included as a flood
protection considerations as part
of all capital works.

Register of existing NbS
Maintenance and enhancement
plans

Best practice NbS flood protection
measures

£g abed

2.19 Start to deliver the Tree
Establishment Strategy and
continue the One Million
Trees Programme

To continue to plant trees etc as outlined in the Tree
strategy

No of trees etc planted and
where

See appendix 6

Tree and plant coverage in the
city is expanded

Logs of the number of trees
The locations of the trees




Appendix 1.3

Energy and Buildings: MLR 5k

Action

Objectives

Metric

Outcome indicator

Data requirements

3.4 Complete a second phase of building
energy audits - (Andersonstown LC,
Lisnasharragh LC, Templemore Av LC, Brook
LC) and the Waterfront Hall

* Collect data on existing energy
efficiency levels
* Prioritise buildings to focus the

implementation of decarbonisation
measures

¢ No. of completed building-
level audits for top energy
users

Top 4 energy users .

Available data for planning
retrofitting actions

To be confirmed by service provider

3.8 Develop the integration of whole life
carbon assessments as standard practice in
the Capital Programme

o

* To ensure new developments align
with low-carbon and net zero
ambitions

* Inclusion of Whole Life
Carbon Assessments as
standard practice in the
Capital Programme

All new development plans approved
in 2024 and after to include Whole

Life Carbon Assessment

requirements

Reduced emissions from new BCC
buildings

Methodology on Whole Life Carbon
Assessment
Methodology and emissions Data

retrqfgfting programme across BCC'’s top
energyusers based on the findings of the
buil IRg level audits of Adelaide, Cecil Ward,
City Hall and Duncrue

3.1]§unch a phased metering and

* Toreduce energy use, and,

* Consumption in BCC buildings

* Changing energy use behaviours

* Toreduce scope 1 and 2 emissions

* No. of meters installed
* No. of buildings retrofitted
by retrofit type

Adelaide, Cecil Ward, City Hall and .
Duncrue — metered/retrofitted

Adelaide, Cecil Ward, City Hall and
Duncrue — metered/retrofitted
and data used for future
management and development of
other buildings in the council
estate

Results from the energy audits of the 4
listed buildings
Current scope 1 and 2 emissions

3.15 Scope out a strategy to increase
renewable and low-carbon energy use
through corporate power purchase
agreements

* Toincrease renewable and low-
carbon energy use in the council

* No. of renewable energy
systems across council
buildings

* No. of low carbon energy
systems used across council

Increase in renewable energy and .
low carbon energy systems in council

Reduced energy related emissions

Current numbers of renewable energy
and low carbon energy systems in
council




Appendix 1.4

Transport: MLR

Action Objectives Metric Outcome indicator Data requirements
4.1 Review the Business Travel Policy, and * Toimprove knowledge across Council  * No. of education campaigns * Agreed communication and * More frequent communications * Existing and planned BCC
develop the Sustainable Staff Travel Plan to staff on BCC sustainable transport run education plan to inform BCC * BCCstaff more confident in making sustainable transport initiatives
encourage modal shift, active travel and initiatives * No. of people reached by staff on sustainable transport sustainable travel choices * Communications and educational
more fuel efficient driving for Council staff  « 7o support the uptake of sustainable campaigns * Annual review in place to * Increased use of sustainable content on sustainable transport
transport across BCC staff * No. of people changing their monitor plan transport activities across BCCstaff  Baseline awareness of BCC staff
+  To decrease scope 3 emissions travel habits (pre- and post * Decrease in scope 3 emissions  * Scope 3 emissions, CO,e on sustainable travel options
campaign) * Scope 3 emissions baseline
* Scope 3 emissions, CO,e associated with employee
commuting
4.4 Through sustainable procurement, aim * To reduce Scope 3 emissions associated ¢ Updated procurement policy ¢ Updated policy to support local ¢ Reduced scope 3 emissions * Scope 3 emissions associated
torgse local suppliers to the Council to with purchased goods and services procurement associated with purchased goods with purchased goods and
reguce miles travelled within the confines * Annual review in place to and services services
&procurement legislation and Local Govt monitor policy
AR restrictions
onduct a commercial assessment of * To improve accessibility to charging * Assessment completed * More LEV charging facilities *  Current numbers of charging
Council land suitable for installing low infrastructure * No. of charging points facilities and
emission vehicle (LEV) charging points installed * Areas of suitable land
4.10 Commence work on repurposing staff * To encourage changing behaviours * No. of spaces repurposed for * Improved facilities in City hall * More staff actively traveling to * Current numbers of changing
parking spaces for cycle racks and integrate .« To reduce emissions cycle parking * Increased number of spaces for work facilities, and,
appropriate facilities to supp?rt act_i\_/e: «  To promote active travel methods No. of facilities improved cycle parking * Locations .
travel e.g. shower and changing facilities * No. of facilities created to *  Current number of cycle parking
facilitate active travel facilities




Appendix

Waste Management: MLR

Outcome indicator

Objectives

Data requirements

9g abed

5.4 Continue to progress .
the proposal for a single .
use plastics policy for the
Council

To avoid and reduce our use of SUPs .

To promote and support activities in the wider

community that relate to SUP minimisation and

best practice — such as supporting community
groups and local businesses
To Raise awareness of SUPs with council staff

Number of SUP items .

ordered (per year)

We will reduce the amount of .

SUPs used across our facilities
and operations.

We will work with our
suppliers to reduce SUPs.

We will raise awareness and
promote the reduction of SUPs
both internally and with
members of the public.

We will continue to work on
our education and community
litter programme to tackle
SUPs in our environment.

Reduction in SUP across council .

services
Reduction in associated scope 3
emissions

Current SUP usage
figures by type

5.3 Initiate an internal .
Council-level Waste
Management Plan which

aligns with the Waste
Management Hierarchy

and with an emphasis on

green waste

To support improved waste management and
the transition to a circular economy for BCC
operations

Council-level Waste
Management Plan
completed that supports
the reporting and
tracking of Council
generated waste and
sets out targeted, time-
bound actions to
transition the Council to
a more circular economy

Completed BCC-level Waste
Management Plan

Annual review in place to
monitor plan

Reduced emissions associated
with BCC-generated waste

* BCCgenerated waste
(volume and
composition)

5.7 Develop a mechanism .
to track and report on .
internal Council generated
waste

To support the measurement of waste streams
To increase accuracy of scope 3 emissions

Mechanism in place
Weights of internal
waste

To have a figure for internal
waste before the end of
2025/26

BCC staff have access to waste
data

Reduced volume of total BCC-
generated waste

Reduced share of waste sent to
landfill

*  Weights of internal
waste

e Current methods

* Methodologies from
other
councils/organisations




I

CLIMATE
ACTION

05-1
Appendix 2

Abbreviations, Glossary,
Key & Definition of
Action Categories

& www.belfastcity.gov.uk/climate-change



gG abed

Appendix 2

List of abbreviations

APSE Association for Public Service Excellence MLR Monitoring, Learning and Reporting
BCC Belfast City Council NbS Nature Based Solutions

CAP Climate Action Plan NIE Northern Ireland Electricity

cop Conference of the Parties RCP Representative Concentration Pathway
CPPA Corporate Power Purchasing Agreement SDG Sustainable Development Goal

LDP Local Development Plan SME Small and Medium Sized Enterprises
GHG Greenhouse Gas SuD Sustainable Drainage System

HVO Hydrotreated Vegetable Qil tCOze Tonnes of Carbon Dioxide Equivalent
IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change UHI Urban Heat Island

LEV Low Emissions Vehicle UKCP UK Climate Projections




6G abed

Appendix 2

Glossary

Adaptation: Altering our behaviour, systems, and sometimes ways of life to protect our families, our economies, and the environment in which we live from
the impacts of climate change.

Biodiversity: The variability among living organisms from terrestrial, marine and other ecosystems. Biodiversity includes variability at the genetic, species
and ecosystem levels

Climate: The long-term average weather of area, usually taken over 30 years

Climate projection: A climate projection is the simulated response of the climate system to a scenario of future emission or concentration of greenhouse
gases (GHGs) and aerosols, generally derived using climate models

Climate resilience: The capacity of societies, economies, and ecosystems to cope with a hazardous event, trend or disturbance

Coastal flooding: Coastal flooding occurs when sea levels along the coast or in estuaries exceed neighbouring land levels, or overcome coastal defences
where these exist, or when waves overtop over the coast

Coastal inundation: When sea water rises high enough that it floods infrastructure and buildings or endangers peoples' safety.

Exposure: The presence of people, livelihoods, species or ecosystems, environmental functions, services, and resources, infrastructure, or economic, social,
or cultural assets in places and settings that could be adversely affected

Extreme weather event: An extreme weather event is an event that is rare at a particular place and time of year

Fluvial flooding occurs when rivers and streams break their banks and water flows out onto the adjacent low-lying areas (the natural floodplains)



09 abed

Appendix 2

Glossary

Greenhouse gas: Gases in Earth's atmosphere that trap heat e.g. carbon dioxide.

Hazard: The potential occurrence of a natural or human-induced physical event or trend or physical impact that may cause loss of life, injury, or other health
impacts, as well as damage and loss to property, infrastructure, livelihoods, service provision, ecosystems and

Mitigation: Climate change mitigation refers to efforts to reduce or prevent emission of greenhouse gases.

Nature based solutions: Solutions which involve working with nature to address societal challenges, providing benefits for both human well-being and biodiversity
Net zero: The equal balance between the amount of greenhouse gas (GHG) that's produced and the amount that's removed from the atmosphere

RCP4.5 : An intermediate stabilisation pathways in which radiative forcing is stabilised at approximately 4.5 W/m2 after 2100 (the corresponding ECPs assuming
constant concentrations after 2150)

RCP8.5: One high pathway for which radiative forcing reaches >8.5 W/m2 by 2100 and continues to rise for some amount of time (the corresponding ECP assuming
constant emissions after 2100 and constant concentrations after 2250)

Renewable energy: Energy derived from natural sources that are replenished at a higher rate than they are consumed

Representative concentration pathways (RCPs): Scenarios that include time series of emissions and concentrations of the full suite of greenhouse gases (GHGs)
and aerosols and chemically active gases, as well as land use/land cover

Risk: The potential, when the outcome is uncertain, for adverse consequences on something of value (lives, ecosystems, assets, services, etc.)

Shared socioeconomic pathway (SSP): Shared socioeconomic pathways are scenarios that examine how global society, demographics, and economics might change
over the next century (2100).

Tidal flooding: Temporary inundation of coastal areas during exceptionally high tides or storm surges
Tidal surges: A coastal flood or tsunami-like phenomenon of rising water commonly associated with low-pressure weather systems, such as cyclones.

Vulnerability: The propensity or predisposition to be adversely affected. Vulnerability encompasses a variety of concepts and elements including sensitivity or
susceptibility to harm and lack of capacity to cope and adapt



T9 abed

Appendix 2

Key for action areas

Throughout the action areas in this CAP a number of rankings and metrics are utilised, such as timeframe, outcomes and benefits and status. The below overview
should be referred to when reviewing each action.

* The current status of each action at BCC

Action to be commenced by
sr‘;@ *  Action not started

S 2025
e Action in progress M 2025-2030
L 2030 +

wox))) ©  Action completed

Outcomes and benefits

©0

ﬁ *  Action has benefits for climate mitigation
@& e Action has benefits for climate resilience

k *  Action has benefits for community development

ﬂ e Action has benefits for environmental sustainability



29 abed

Appendix 2

Definition of climate action categories

As discussed, the CAP is structured across five core themes and within each theme there are four integrated action phases with outcomes defined. When implementing
the CAP, the completion of each phase is a pre-requisite of starting the next one; actions within each phase are enablers for the actions in the subsequent phases. In
this plan, we have provided recommended actions for all themes and phases.

Category

Themes

Adaptation

Phase 1: Education/
Awareness raising

Phase 2: Capacity
building

Phase 3: Policy /
planning

Phase 4: Delivery /
implementation

Desired outcome

Tools for Transition E’\ Energy and Buildings E@l Transport E Waste Management l‘.‘;

General education and training on
net zero

Internal and external
communication on staged
changes to active travel.

Awareness on energy
management, low-carbon options
and awareness on related societal
and technological changes

General education and training on
waste management and circular
economy

Research, assess, identify, review to gain more detailed, specific information.

Develop, introduce, integrate, explore, ensure, expand, facilitate influence, support, update and embed specific actions and projects.

Not applicable

Ensuring BCC is equipped with
the tools and mechanisms to
successfully enable them to
become a net zero, resilient
council

Implement, build, achieve, contribute, deliver convert, repurpose, improve, encourage actions that decrease
Belfast City Council’s emissions and climate impact.

Focusing on the achievement of a
net zero and sustainable energy
system and Council estate

Focusing on the achievement of
net zero and sustainable Council-
related transport

Enabling the Council and its
operations to transition to a more
circular economy

Awareness and knowledge on
climate change for staff; platform
to disseminate information to
wider stakeholders

Create, increase, develop,
incorporate, integrate and
maintain actions that enhance the
resilience against the changes
brought by climate change.

Ensuring BCC is future proofed
and resilient to the impacts of
climate change



I

CLIMATE
ACTION

05-2

Appendix 3
BCC Consultees &
Documents Reviewed

& www.belfastcity.gov.uk/climate-change



Appendix 3

BCC consultees

Step 1 - stakeholder interviews Step 2 — action prioritisation

Step 2 - stakeholder workshop Step 3 — draft report comments

Stakeholder Position Stakeholder Position Stakeholder Position

Interviewee

Trevor Wallace

Position

Head of Finance

City and Neighbourhood Services

City Innovation

Belfast Regional City Deal

*  Debbie * Climate Commissioner
Caldwell

* Cathy * Operational Director,
Matthews Resources and Fleet

e John ¢ City Services Manager,
McConnell Resources & Fleet

Richard Treacy * Energy Manager

9 abed

Sinead Grimes

Director of Property &
Projects

* Head of Audit
Governance and
Risk Services

Claire O’Prey

Gerry McFall

Property Maintenance
Manager

Legal & Civic Services

Richard Treacy

Energy Manager

Corporate Health and Safety

Resources and Fleet

* Development

Callie Persi
allie Persic Manager

Mark Whittaker * Senior Planner

*  Mura Quigley

Adaptation and
Resilience Advisor

e Alison Diver

Climate Programme
Manager

Adaptation and

e Cathy Matthews

Operational Director,
Resources and Fleet

* Stephen Leonard

Director, City &
Neighbourhood Services

Mura Quigley Resilience Advisor
¢ Climate
Alison Diver Programme
Manager
Climate

Debbie Caldwell

Commissioner

* Joanne Delaney

Portfolio & Programme
Co-ordinator

Claire Shortt

Monitoring,
Learning &
Reporting Officer

e Mark Whittaker

Senior Planner

City Regeneration & Development

¢ Dermot O’Kane

Town Planner

Emergency Planning

e James Noakes

City Innovation Broker

Energy Team

e (Callie Persic

Development Manager

Human Resources Active Travel Team

* Richard Treacy

Energy Manager

Inclusive Growth and Anti-Poverty Team

*  Mark Challis

Performance and
Improvement Officer

Planning Team

« Jill Graffin

Principal Auditor

Procurement

*  Gerry McFall

Property Maintenance
Manager

Waste Team

e Lisa McKee

Equality and Diversity
Officer

58




G9 abed

Appendix 3

Documents reviewed

The tables below summarise the documents reviewed and used to inform climate actions for BCC.

Documents reviewed for climate actions

A Net Zero Carbon Roadmap for Belfast

BCC Climate Adaptation Plan

CNS Business Plan

Living With Water in Belfast Plan 2021

Belfast City Council Fleet Review 20211102

APSE Energy - Belfast City Council

Draft Green Growth Strategy

Northern Ireland Kerbside Waste Composition 2017

NI Energy Strategy

Belfast Climate Risk Assessment for Infrastructure Assets (ARUP)

More Circularity Less Carbon Report

Belfast Region City Deal

Belfast Resilience Strategy

Diesel-HVO Vehicle Emissions Trial Report

UK Climate Change Committee — Sixth Carbon Budget report

Belfast Agenda

Belfast City Council Carbon Trajectory Report

BCC Organisational Structure

UK Climate Change Committee - Sixth Carbon Budget Local Authorities report

Climate City Council Structure

Belfast City Council Green Economy Scoping Labour Market
Opportunities

Belfast City Air Quality Action Plan 2021-2026

A Bolder Vision for Belfast

NI Climate Change Bill

Belfast Green and Blue Infrastructure Plan

Belfast iTree Eco Report

Waste Management Plan for Northern Ireland (DAERA)

Belfast Local Development Plan

Belfast Open Spaces Strategy

Waste Management Plan (arc21)

Belfast Improvement Plan

BCC Environmental Sustainability Review

NI Waste Management Strategy

The Waste Agenda Framework (Belfast)

Northern Ireland Flood Risk Management Plan 2021-2027

C40 Cities

Belfast City Council - Business Continuity Management Policy

Planning and Flood Risk Draft Supplementary Planning Guidance

Climate Adapt

Neighbourhood Regeneration Fund (programme summary)

Belfast Heat Pack

Edinburgh Adapts - Climate Change Adaptation Action Plan

Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council Net Zero Action Plan Report

BCC - Climate Risk Assessment asset information car parks

Fingal County Council Climate Change Action Plan

City of Edinburgh Council Emission Reduction Plan

Current Physical Programme - Dashboard - P1 Jun2022

Mayo County Council Climate Adaptation Strategy

Somerset County Council Climate Emergency Strategy

Note: some actions refined based on BCC feedback and KPMG SME input

Workshop - IAHR - 2 (Numerical simulation of the coastal flooding in urban centres with
underground spaces)

Dun Laoghaire - Rathdown County Council Climate Change Action Plan

Belfast Heat Pack

East Devon District Council Climate Change Action Plan




CLIMATE
ACTION

05-3

Appendix 4
Responses to BCC Key
Questions

‘ WWW. belfastcity.gov.u k/cl imate_cha nge © 2023 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms

affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.



/9 abed

Appendix 4

Summary responses to BCC’s key questions

Analysis and assessment made during the development of the Climate Action Plan (CAP) is aimed at providing a roadmap that enables BCC to focus its resources on a
climate action programme that is efficient and effective. As part of that aim, KPMG have also summarised answers to key questions specified in BCC’s proposal.

Is the initial net zero target
developed by Council sufficiently
ambitious yet realistic?

What measures will be most
impactful and cost effective in
achieving the net zero target?

What role can the Council’s open
spaces play in mitigating climate
change, increasing resilience to
climate risks and enhancing
biodiversity?

How can the Council minimise the
exposure of its assets and services to
flood risk, heat stress and other
climatic factors?

What metrics should be used to
track progress?

Where are the capacity gaps and
how can these be plugged?

What role can the Council’s
procurement processes play in
mitigating climate change,
increasing resilience to climate risks
and enhancing biodiversity?

BCC's net zero by 2050 target is in
line with Northern Ireland's
legislated target.

In the absence of a robust and quantified carbon baseline as
well as agreed and quantified interventions across BCC's
emissions sources, it is not possible to critique the level of
ambition and reality of targets set to date.

To determine the level of impact and cost associated with specific measures, there is a requirement to
first develop an understanding of key emission sources in more detail as well as existing and planned

interventions.

BCC’s open spaces can play a key
role in mitigating climate change
impacts, increasing resilience and
enhancing biodiversity.

BCC s in the process of developing
a robust evidence base to
determine the most effective
options to increase the resilience of
its assets and services to climate
change risks.

At present the effectiveness of BCC's open spaces in delivering
desired outcomes (i.e. climate mitigation and adaptation as
well as enhancing biodiversity) has not been assessed.

Asset scale vulnerability information is lacking in addition to
information on measures already in place to offset adverse
climate impacts.

One of the key themes of the CAP is Tools for Transition. This 'theme', its goals, objectives
and actions, include a number of capacity building actions to support the assessment of the
initial net zero target. These actions are essential to enable the successful delivery of the
plan and to support achievement of a net zero Council.

Whilst the actions identified for potential implementation in the medium to long term will
support BCC’s achievement of net zero, the short-term underpinning actions are considered
to be essential for BCC to develop evidence-based and targeted actions to achieve effective
decarbonisation and wider resilience.

BCC’s open spaces are leveraged through the 5 thematic areas of the CAP which provides
the basis for maximising the role of these valuable resources sequestering carbon and
enhancing the resilience of BCC and the wider community.

The CAP seeks to address existing knowledge gaps in the short term with actions identified
to centralise and further develop asset-scale information on vulnerability and existing
adaptive capacity.

The CAP provides a Monitoring and Learning Framework which identifies key metrics to track progress towards goals, assign responsibilities and propose partners for delivery. The framework focuses
on actions to be delivered in the short term which are an essential foundation for further actions.

In establishing the climate action baseline, the CAP identifies key capacity gaps (e.g. data and information, governance and understanding) to be addressed to ensure BCC is equipped with the
information, knowledge and skills to deliver the CAP and enable evidence-based climate action.

Procurement is a key lever to support climate mitigation and adaptation for BCC whilst driving wider supply chain decarbonisation through the integration of sustainability criteria in tendering
processes. Examples include procuring renewable energy and low carbon building materials for new developments, integrating a zero-waste/circular economy focused procurement policy and
requiring suppliers to implement decarbonisation plans and targets.



Methodolo

o - © 2023 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms 6 2
‘ www‘belfaStclty'gov.u klc' 'mate-cha nge affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.



Themes

Step 1: Climate action baseline

Step 1 established the climate action baseline for BCC by identifying the challenges faced by BCC, the measures already in place and key areas for improvement. On this
basis the key themes for climate action planning were identified.

Key Tasks for Step 1

Key tasks in this step include:
* Adesktop review of internal and publicly available BCC plans, policies and strategies (see Appendix 2 for full list of documents reviewed).

* Targeted interviews with BCC stakeholders covering key service lines such as Fleet and Resources, Energy, Finance and Property and Projects. These interviews provided an additional understanding of
BCC's existing climate response as well as highlighting areas that are currently challenged (see Appendix 2 for full list of interviewees).

Putcomes of Step 1

gAs an outcome of the interviews conducted and documents reviewed, five key climate action themes and associated goals and objectives were identified to focus BCC’s efforts to support the overall
(Dachievement of a net zero and resilient Council:

o)}

"‘

a 4

01

Tools for Transition Transport Waste Management Adaptation

Enabling the Council and its
operations to support the
transition to a more circular
economy

Ensuring BCC is equipped with the |

|

| | Ensuring BCCis fut fed and
tools and mechanisms to successfully | nsuring 's future prootec an

|

|

|

| |

|

| | resilient to heat-related and flood :
risk

| |

Achievement of a low-carbon and Achievement of net zero and

| I |

| I |

sustainable energy system and I sustainable Council-related |

enable them to become a net zero, | By sy I | I
| by

- ) Council estate transport
resilient council |

A set of specific objectives to support the achievement of each goal

The five themes have been prioritised as a result of assessing what has the greatest impact on BCC operations as well as benchmarking the key areas of climate action of peer organisations and relevant
international frameworks. The data for this plan was collected on BCC’s current baseline. The following pages describe the context and findings of each key theme identified.

63



Step 1: Climate action baseline

Based on BCC’s climate action baseline assessment, five key climate action themes were identified

0/ abed

Context Raising awareness, knowledge building and capacity Buildings and associated energy use is a key source of emissions which is Transport impacts BCC’s scope 1 and scope 3 emissions. Decarbonising
building around climate change, including its effects and  essential to decarbonise via retrofitting and ensuring new developments the Council’s fleet, ensuring sustainable business travel and
mitigation and adaj\ptatlon actions are essential to ensure 54 developments supported by BCC are aligned with BCC’s climate goals.  supporting staff to transition to sustainable commute options will
comm.ltm'ent to climate a.ctlon and promote support the Council’s decarbonisation efforts.
organisational and behavioural change.

Action There is ample evidence of BCC's commitment to Progress has been made on understanding current GHG emissions, A series of initiatives have been undertaken to decarbonise transport,

Baseline climate action including: including the following actions: including:

* Scope 1, 2 and partial scope 3 emissions calculated (18,783 tCO.e ¢ Adetailed fleet review completed by AECOM that is awaitin
* The establishment of the role of Climate P P P - . ( ) L P v €
o and a draft net zero carbon emissions carbon trajectory report approval. The review includes an assessment of the annual carbon
Commissioner. completed by APSE; footprint of the BCC fleet (1,582 tCO,) as well as pathways to
e Preparing a Climate Change Risk Assessment and » Data collated on building energy use (electricity at 17,451,880 kWh transition the fleet to net zero);
Climate Action Plan. and natural gas at 50,125,265 kWh) and floor area (completeness e LEVs procured for BCC vehicle fleet;
uncertain); and . : . .
« There is further evidence of awareness and climate e . HVO trial completed and bunker supplied fleet transitioned to
. ) * 4 building audits completed HVO; and
knowledge within BCC leadership and experts, e.g. o .
energy managers. ¢ Employee initiatives in place to promote active travel (e.g. cycle-
to-work scheme).
Identified While BCC has made initial efforts to establish the A complete and robust set of data for all buildings is required to inform BCC’s fleet review is considered robust and to avoid duplication of
Gaps building blocks for integrating effective climate action, a understanding of energy and emissions - likely informed by a building recommendations, fleet-related actions in the CAP relate to the

more complete and unified approach is needed across
areas of education and upskilling, data and policy.

survey, that includes data points such as building number and location,
building type/use, floor area and construction year. Once sufficient data is
available, benchmarks (local or national) can be applied to estimate
energy consumption and associated carbon emissions, enabling a robust
and realistic understanding of the highest energy users informing
targeting of measures. The Council’s Capital Programme is currently not
subject to climate screening or whole life carbon assessments to
minimise operational and embodied carbon emissions of new
developments across the estate.

Council actioning the recommendations of the fleet review. Wider
actions to reduce the impact of business travel and employee
commuting impacts are also set out in the CAP.

64



Step 1: Climate action baseline

T/ abed

Context Waste generation impacts BCC's scope 3 emissions and integrating more sustainable waste BCC’s assets, infrastructure and human resource are already at risk from climate and weather-related
management practices can support decarbonisation and a transition to a circular economy. events and these risks are projected to increase and intensify in the future. Key risks identified for BCC
are associated with flooding (coastal and pluvial) and extreme heat. Ensuring the resilience of BCC is
essential to ensure continuity of service and to offset adverse impacts of climate change.
Action The More Circularity Less Carbon report and NI Kerbside Waste Composition study A range of climate projection data is available to BCC through UKCP18 and DFI; this information has been
Baseline quantified the carbon intensity of waste flows and management types of household waste in employed to develop a high level understanding of climate change risks for BCC with priority risks
Belfast city. The carbon impact of household waste is estimated at 360,000 tCO,e/year - identified (coastal and pluvial flooding, extreme heat). Semi-quantitative assessment of priority risks has
nearly 20 times higher than BCC’s carbon emissions. The required reduction in waste (90,025 been undertaken to establish asset-scale risks scores on the basis of climate hazard, environmental and
tCO,e) is around 5 times higher than BCC’s carbon emissions. asset information. A draft adaptation plan has been developed which focuses on actions relating to
communication, financial planning, governance, data, nature-based solutions, emergency planning and
local scale risk assessment.
Identified Currently there is no tracking of internal Council-generated waste, therefore an As identified through the semi-quantitative risk assesment and draft BCC adaptation plan, local and asset
Gaps understanding of BCC's own waste related emissions has not been possible. Data required to  scale vulnerability information is required to determine potential adaptation requirements.

estimate carbon impact of waste produced through BCC operations include:
*  Waste volumes

*  Waste types

* Disposal routes

* Organisation boundary

In the absence of these data, it is difficult to provide a quantitative analysis of BCC scope 3
waste emissions and provide targeted actions to support emissions reduction. The Belfast
area household waste has been used as a case study to show the carbon intensity of waste
streams, supporting education and awareness raising.

Nature-based solutions (NbS) are a key asset to support the delivery of adaptation across BCC. Ensuring
the incorporation of climate risk requirements into maintenance and development of NbS is critical to
further enhance the resilience of Belfast and BCC.

Developing adaptation across BCC will require BCC to deliver adaptation solutions across the existing BCC
estate and to ensure that adaptation considerations are integral to all capital development.

65




¢/ abed

Step 2: Action identification

A comprehensive list of climate actions was identified to enhance the resilience of the Council’s assets and services and reach net zero emissions

On completion of Step 1, an understanding of BCC’s climate action
baseline was obtained as well as the identification of key gaps and areas
of improvement for each climate action theme. This information
provided the foundation to develop a comprehensive and wide ranging
list of climate actions that would build on BCC’s climate action baseline to
close out the gaps identified and support the achievement of the goals
and objectives established for each climate action theme.

To develop the list of actions, the information gathered in Step 1 was
supplemented with additional climate action plans, policies, strategies
and reports from government, peers and industry. Documents and
resources reviewed included the C40 Cities initiatives, UK Climate Change
Committee reports, UK and ROI local authority climate action plans,
European climate action case studies, the Northern Ireland Energy
Strategy and the Net-Zero Carbon Roadmap for Belfast.

This review, in addition to expert input, resulted in the collation of
climate action guidance, benchmarks and actions of relevance to the
achievement the specific objectives identified. This information was
applied to the BCC baseline context to develop the long list of climate
actions.

As noted in Step 1, the climate actions were grouped into five key
themes. The actions were further categorised by their characteristics -
differentiating between actions aimed at awareness raising, capacity
building, policy/planning and delivery/implementation - as demonstrated
in the adjacent table.

Example output of the long list of climate actions

Theme Category Action No.  Action details
1. Tools for the Transition Education/ Awareness 1.1 Support skills development, education and training internally for climate action,
raising tailored for the specific needs of the departments / teams. Run periodic surveys to
assess the effectiveness of the training
1. Tools for the Transition Education/ Awareness 1.2 Implement an internal Climate Communications campaign to engage staff on
raising climate-related topics and news internally and externally
1. Tools for the Transition  |Capacity building 1.3 Explore the potential and feasibility of increasing the number of climate friendly
meals sold within the Council Estate
1. Tools for the Transition Capacity building 14 Explore opportunities for surplus land to be made available for potential
partnership or disposal to third sector organisations where climate mitigation and
adaptation goals are being observed e.g. for community growing, urban
agriculture, energy production, carbon sequestration
1. Tools for the Transition  |Capacity building 15 Complete an assessment of Council powers, opportunities and barriers to
addressing climate change
1. Tools for the Transition Capacity building 16 Integrate data collection systems related to Council-related GHG emissions
1. Tools for the Transition Capacity building 1.7 Integrate a climate data platform for climate risks and climate adaptation and
mitigation actions
1. Tools for the Transition Capacity building 1.8 Establish a Climate Champions working group
1. Tools for the Transition 19 Set target date for net zero

Action theme and
category

Policy/planning

Action details

66



Step 2: Action identification — screening assessment

To prioritise actions for potential implementation, each of the actions identified through the long list of climate actions were screened according to a number of key
criteria (timeframe, technical feasibility, cost and impact). All four criteria were assessed for each action, based on information provided by BCC and leveraging expertise
within KPMG’s team. This assessment was then circulated among BCC stakeholders to collect feedback, validate the action and provide the opportunity to identify any
enabling actions or implementation challenges.

Screening criteria employed to rate identified actions

Timeframe: short, medium or long term action

s 2022-2025
M 2025-2030
_U L 2030+
2
@ H Technology / expertise readily available, expertise available within BCC
CTI) M Technology / expertise can be made available, may require external expertise

Technology / expertise not readily available, technology still developing

Additional capital expenditure required, long-term projects

Additional budget requirement from internal / external sources, medium- and long-term
projects

Can be completed within existing budgets, ongoing, short to medium-term projects

Significant, direct contribution to net zero and resilience goals

Directly contributes to enabling actions that support delivering net zero and resilience
goals

Provides foundation / may contribute indirectly to delivering net zero and resilience goals

=

BCC stakeholders
changed the ranking of
26 actions in addition to
providing comments,
barriers and enabling
actions which were
taken forward to the
action prioritisation
phase.

Prioritisation of actions after feedback is collated

The KPMG team collated the responses from BCC stakeholders into a master-
list. The team then completed an action prioritisation exercise by converting
the qualitative scores for S,M,L and H,M,L for timeframe, technical feasibility,
cost and Impact into numeric scores to rank and screen out actions in line with
the below matrix. The aim of this phase of work was to identify priority actions
and enabling actions for BCC to deliver on mitigation and adaptation goals.

ke
©
g‘ Worth pursuing
:En — medium priority
&
S
s Keep an eye on
£ Keep an eye on pan eye
s — low priority
S
Low feasibility High feasibility

67



Step 2: Action identification — stakeholder workshop

On the basis of action screening, a initial implementation plan was developed and shared with BCC stakeholders for validation. Stakeholders agreed with the approach

to CAP development and provided additional input to further refine the actions.

The KPMG team presented the updated action list to BCC stakeholders at a workshop in November 2022 to get additional feedback to support the options analysis phase. Actions had been previously
grouped into the key themes identified and during the workshop each theme was discussed in detail by relevant department(s) and stakeholders in break-out rooms. (For a list of attendees at the workshop,

please see Appendix 2).

While stakeholders agreed to the approach of developing the CAP, feedback received related to a lack of data and tracking systems in place to understand baseline conditions and to track progress as well as
governance and resourcing challenges. These challenges were either tied to specific actions or were considered as cross cutting while some of the actions identified were deemed outside the remit of the

CAP. Feedback was also given on initiatives already underway within the departments.

fxample of feedback received

& Fundamental
H resource issue in
@ia workshop BeCat the
t . o
~ Unsure if datasets are momen There is a capacity issue and
M~ \ also communicating that this

readily available for

building assets is a fundamental requirement

to make decisions on building
= = P

There is a lot of ]
data out there, but

it needs to be ::?;; Baselines and impact
made accessible — of current
interventions need to
be identified
Centralised data system is
needed to show how they are The question surrounds roles and
performing now (developing a Key thing is realising these ownerships for various
baseline). Can’t manage what steps in practice and how these departments and where the
you can’t measure will be resourced internally actions will sit within wider BCC

Ny

Summary of outcome of
workshop

The feedback from the workshop informed the
development of KPMG’s core recommendation for
BCC to focus on foundational issues in order to
implement effective action, notably in the areas of:

Education and awareness raising
Data and audits

Targets and timeframe
Coordination and communication

Partnerships

68



G) abed

Step 3: Options analysis

During the options analysis phase, the long list of climate actions was refined based on the outcomes of the stakeholder workshop (Step 2) and feedback from BCC
stakeholders as well as using expert judgement. The approach is outlined below

Following the action prioritisation stakeholder workshop, the action list was refined with the aim to develop easy to follow, practical and comprehensive Climate Action Roadmaps for each of the five
themes. These Climate Action Roadmaps provide a time-bound, phased approach to action implementation and to support the overall achievement of the relevant climate action goals and objectives. A
number of considerations were applied to refine the climate action list as summarised below. The key consideration was identifying the essential short-term enabling actions that need to be implemented in

order to deliver the more impactful climate actions in the medium to long term. The Actions List and related Action Roadmaps were circulated to BCC stakeholders and on the basis feedback received were
updated and finalised.

Prioritised Actions Considerations applied to refine action list to
(presented at N provide easy to follow, comprehensive Action
Workshop) Roadmaps

| * To enable and support strategic visioning and the progressive

Outcome of additional review and
N consolidation exercise

+ The prioritisation scores (qualitative estimate on timeframe, cost and feasibility) theme. BCC’s climate action baseline was used as the starting point for
were considered to prioritise actions. During this assessment, many of the short- each action roadmap. The action roadmaps identify short-term
term actions with high feasibility but low impact scores were enabling actions, and so enabling actions that progressively build upon the baseline to support
while they would have been de-prioritised per the analysis framework, they were delivery of longer-term strategic actions and achievement of the
included to ensure that the pre-requisite conditions are established that enable the theme’s specific objectives and overarching goal.
implementation of subsequent (and more impactful) climate actions

* Where required, enabling actions were identified to provide for the delivery of " o
longer-term strategic actions — this dependency and relationship between actions is ToolstorTransltlon_:Actlm_l_Roadman , o

illustrated in the action roadmaps

e Actions considered to be too out of scope for the climate action plan, such as actions
that can be taken forward in the city-wide climate action plan

*  Amendments to and wording and actions based on feedback from BCC

69

| implementation of actions, action roadmaps were developed for each



Step 4: Measuring success

Planning for climate action is considered as an iterative and learning-by-doing process which is strategic in focus and subject to a wide range of
uncertainties. As a result, Monitoring, Learning and Reporting (MLR) frameworks are essential for climate action planning and implementation.

MLR frameworks assess the performance of climate actions and their implementation and supports improved decision-making under various uncertainties, including those
presented by climate change. As part of the planning for implementing the CAP, BCC will need to develop a detailed implementation plan. The Monitoring, Learning and
Reporting (MLR) framework has been developed to support implementation and with a specific focus on short-term actions.

In developing the MLR framework, a two-step approach was adopted:

01

9,/ abed

Development of CAP Governance
Structure

The success of a climate action plan is dependent upon the establishment
of a fit-for-purpose governance structure to ensure oversight and
accountability.

To support this aim, building on the progress already made by BCC in
governance development and in consultation with BCC, a CAP
governance structure has been developed which identifies the oversight
body, action owners and independent advisers, detailing reporting lines
and frequency of reporting.

02

Development of Monitoring, Learning
and Reporting Framework

An MLR framework has been developed for the CAP that focuses on the
short-term actions which are considered essential enablers to subsequent
actions. MLR frameworks have been prepared for each theme and specify
the objective(s) of each action, the metric(s) related to measuring
progress, the target(s), outcome indicators and data required to complete
the actions.

70



Step 4: Measuring success

Planning for climate action is considered as an iterative and learning-by-doing process which is strategic in focus and subject to a wide range of
uncertainties. As a result, Monitoring, Learning and Reporting (MLR) frameworks are essential for climate action planning and implementation.

MLR frameworks assess the performance of climate actions and their implementation and supports improved decision-making under various uncertainties, including those
presented by climate change. As part of the planning for implementing the CAP, BCC will need to develop a detailed implementation plan. The Monitoring, Learning and
Reporting (MLR) framework has been developed to support implementation and with a specific focus on short-term actions.

In developing the MLR framework, a two-step approach was adopted:

01

/] abed

Development of CAP Governance
Structure

The success of a climate action plan is dependent upon the establishment
of a fit-for-purpose governance structure to ensure oversight and
accountability.

To support this aim, building on the progress already made by BCC in
governance development and in consultation with BCC, a CAP
governance structure has been developed which identifies the oversight
body, action owners and independent advisers, detailing reporting lines
and frequency of reporting.

02

Development of Monitoring, Learning
and Reporting Framework

An MLR framework has been developed for the CAP that focuses on the
short-term actions which are considered essential enablers to subsequent
actions. MLR frameworks have been prepared for each theme and specify
the objective(s) of each action, the metric(s) related to measuring
progress, the target(s), outcome indicators and data required to complete
the actions.

71



- ]
%MATE
ACTION

Appendix 6

An Integrated Approach
to Deliver the Tree
Strategy and One Million
Trees Programme

& www.belfastcity.gov.uk/climate-change



6/ obed

Appendix 6

Tools for Transition Action 2.19 — How the Belfast Tree Strategy and
One Million Trees Initiative will support the CAP

Tree Strategy Target 1

Carry out a detailed canopy cover assessment to establish accurate potential canopy cover and the amount of tree cover also provided by woodland and hedges. (Links to T1in TS)

Tree Strategy Target 2 Establish a tree population suited to the urban environment, adapted to the overall region and to 2050 climate scenarios. (Links to T4 in TS)

Tree Strategy Target 3 Move to an integrated GIS based tree inventory system, assessing current management practices and stress levels in existing tree population. (Links to T5 in TS)

Tree Strategy Target 4 Identify parcels of land where natural regeneration might be possible. (Links to T6 in TS)

Tree Strategy Target 5 Prioritised zones to be identified where specific benefits can have the highest impact. Species choice related to species ability to deliver required benefits. (Links to T10 in TS)
Tree Strategy Target 6 Governance of the urban forest is coordinated by a dedicated body in Belfast and integrated with current Million Trees programme governance. (Links to C1in TS)

Tree Strategy Target 7 Internal coordination within BCC to advance goals for improving Belfast’s urban forest, linked into Million Trees programme. (Links to C2 in TS)

Tree Strategy Target 8 Review current tree management software, protocols for data collection and sharing, inclusion of hedges and hedgerows. ((Links to R1in TS)

Tree Strategy Target 9 Establish a tree valuation method as part of an asset management approach (Links to R2 in TS)

Tree Strategy Target 10

Map canopy at the ward level and assess 30% canopy cover goal against climate adaptation needs (Links to R3 in TS)

Tree Strategy Target 11

Complete tree opportunity map and identify areas that would have greatest adaptation potential for targeted planting (Links to R4 in TS)

Tree Strategy Target 12

Deliver on the requirements of the Local Development Plan’s tree policies (Links to R10)

Tree Strategy Target 13

Map and identify areas of Council owned natural areas and public green space. Develop system for recording trees in woodlands (Links to R12)

Tree Strategy Target 14

Develop a biosecurity strategy for the urban forest in Belfast (Links to R14)

Tree Strategy Target 15

Support the development of local community tree nurseries and develop long term tree supply plan (Links to R14)

Tree Strategy Target 16

Commission a feasibility study on utilising urban wood and green waste (Links to R15)

Tree Strategy Target 17

Establish an R&D agenda and strategy, and assign a clear responsibility for research coordination. Set up a research advisory board. Prioritised topics for R&D include biosecurity and climate change. (Links
toR17)

Belfast Tree Strategy



https://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/treestrategy#:~:text=Draft%20strategy,-A%20draft%20Tree&text=It%20draws%20on%20existing%20programmes,provide%20to%20health%20and%20wellbeing.

¥in foD
kpmg.ie

The information contained herein is of a general nature and is not intended to address the circumstances of any particular
individual or entity. Although we endeavor to provide accurate and timely information, there can be no guarantee that such

information is accurate as of the date it is received or that it will continue to be accurate in the future. No one should act on such
information without appropriate professional advice after a thorough examination of the particular situation.

The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation

© 2023 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG
International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



CLIMATE
ACTION

Council’s Climate

Action Plan

Belfast
City Council




Climate Action Plan

* Context

* Purpose

* Structure and content
* Governance

* Tracking progress

* Resourcing




Climate Action Plan

CLIMATE
ACTION

[
Aims to close the gap between BCC’s current climate action and its ambition to 7 1 CI iImate

be a net zero! and resilient Council .
actions

dCross

Includes actions to be delivered in the short term (by 2025), medium term (by
2030) and longer term (2030+)

Ri]l short-term actions have been mainstreamed into the Corporate Annual 5 t h e m es
C:zlivery Plan for 2025-26

“’ o, OO
L/\ Tools for Transition

Going forward, the plan will be reviewed annually with priority actions brought

forward by Departments for inclusion in the Council’s Annual Delivery Plan % Adaptation
Ensures that the Climate Action Plan supports the delivery of the Annual dzffll Energy and Buildings
Delivery Plan and that climate actions are resourced as part of the annual

i r Transport
planning cycle L

'-‘4‘: Waste Management

1 Net zero includes scope 1, 2 and 3, and focuses on the Council's own operations

‘ WWW. belfastcity'gov.u k/climate_cha nge © 2023 KPMG, an Irish partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms 3

affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.



N. Ireland Climate Change Act 2022 - Public Body Reporting

The Northern Ireland Assembly passed it first ever climate change legislation in March 2022. The Climate Change Act (Northern Ireland) 2022 received Royal
Assent on 6 June 2022 and sets out the legal framework for tackling climate change by reducing greenhouse gas emissions for decades to come in Northern
Ireland.

The Climate Change (Reporting Bodies) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2024, which came into operation on the 3rd May 2024, set climate change reporting duties
on specified public body organisations, which are listed within its Schedule. There are 40 public bodies listed in the Schedule and Belfast City Council is one of
them. The regulations place reporting duties on the specified public bodies. These duties cover both adaptation and mitigation.

78 abed

Mitigation — every 3 years Adaptation — Every 5 years
The first mitigation report is due first — 31st October 2025 and will The first adaptation report is due first — 31st March 2025 and will
include: include:
- a statement, in respect of each of the three preceding financial * an assessment of the current and predicted impact of climate
years, of the amounts and the sources of the Council’s change in relation to its functions;
greenhouse gas emissions; - a statement of Council’s proposals and policies for adapting
 a statement of the Council’s proposals and policies for reducing to climate change in the exercise of its functions;
those amounts and otherwise for mitigating the effects of . a statement of the timescales for implementing those

climate change in the exercise of its functions; proposals and policies; and

 a statement of the time-scales for implementing those .

I 4 polici q an assessment of the progress made towards implementing
proposals and policies; an

the proposals and policies set out in any previous climate
« an assessment of the progress made towards implementing change adaptation report.

the proposals and policies set out in any previous climate

change mitigation report.



Key climate actions to be delivered in the short-term

The CAP identifies priority short-term actions for each of the 5 themes which have been integrated into the draft Council’s Corporate Annual
Delivery Plan 2025/26

1. Develop a sustainable food policy

for the Council that addresses
waste, sourcing, packaging,

el

Adaptation and Resilience

2 ©)
2 = £

Transport

Tools for Transition

Energy and Buildings

Waste Management

1. Complete a second phase of 1. Review the Business Travel Policy

emissions measurement and an
events protocol (1.14)

Develop a sustainable/ low carbon
procurement policy and supplier
guidance documents to support a
transition to an inclusive, net zero
and resilient future (1.15)

Develop and launch an accessible
climate data platform to track
progress on delivering climate
adaptation and mitigation actions
(1.7)

Prepare departments for data
collection required for Public Body
Reporting under the Climate Change
Act (1.17)

Prepare mitigation report (Oct 2025)
and adaptation report (March 2026)
for submission to DAERA in line with
Public Body Reporting requirements
(1.18)

1.

Update the BCC Climate Risk
Assessment in line with the new
mandatory Public Body Reporting
requirements (under the Climate
Change Act) (2.2)

Apply SUDs policy and guidance
(SUDS Manual C753) as standard
practice in the Capital
Programme (2.3)

Start to deliver the Tree
Establishment Strategy and
continue the One Million Trees
Programme (2.19)

building energy audits (3.3, 3.4)

. Develop the integration of whole

life carbon assessments as
standard practice in the Capital
Programme (3.8)

. Launch a phased metering and

retrofitting programme across
BCC'’s top energy users based on
the findings of the building level
audits of Adelaide, Cecil Ward,
City Hall and Duncrue (3.11)

. Scope out a strategy to increase

renewable and low-carbon energy
use through corporate power
purchase agreements (3.15)

and develop the Sustainable Staff
Travel Plan to encourage modal
shift, active travel and more fuel-
efficient driving for Council staff
(4.2)

. Through sustainable procurement,

aim to use local suppliers to the
Council to reduce miles travelled
within the confines of
procurement legislation and Local
Govt Act restrictions (4.4)

. Conduct a commercial assessment

of Council land suitable for
installing low emission vehicle
(LEV) charging points (4.9)

. Repurpose parking spaces for car

clubs and cycle parking and
integrate appropriate facilities to
support active travel e.g. shower
and changing facilities (4.10)

1.

Continue to progress the proposal
for a single use plastics policy for
the Council (5.4)

Initiate an internal Council-level
Waste Management Plan which
aligns with the Waste
Management Hierarchy and with
an emphasis on green waste (5.3)

Develop a mechanism to track and
report on internal Council
generated waste (5.7)




2025-26 7

1.

Develop a sustainable food policy
for the Council that addresses
waste, sourcing, packaging,
emissions measurement and an
events protocol (1.14)

. Develop a sustainable/ low carbon

procurement policy and supplier
guidance documents to support a
transition to an inclusive, net zero
and resilient future (1.15)

. Develop and launch an accessible

~iimate data platform to track
crogress on delivering climate
auaptation and mitigation actions
(1.7)

. Prepare departments for data

collection required for Public Body
Reporting under the Climate Change
Act (1.17)

. Prepare mitigation report (Oct 2025)
and adaptation report (March 2026)
for submission to DAERA in line with
Public Body Reporting requirements
EE))

Tools for Transition

Goal: To equip BCC with the tools and mechanisms to successfully enable them to become a net zero, resilient council

Short-term (2025) Medium-term (2023-2030)
Prepare departments for data collection
required for Public Body Reporting
under the Climate Change Act (1.17)

to assess the effectiveness of the training. {1.1)

Complete an assessment of Council
powers, opportunifies and barriers fo
addressing climate change {1.3)

Review of services, buildings and procurement
i assess the segregation handicap {1.16)

Develop a sustainable food policy for the Council that
addresses waste, sourcing. packaging. emissions
measurement and an events protocol (1.14)

making processes [1.11)

Establish an internal Council governance structure that
supporis sustainable food — potentially reporting fo the
Climate Programme Board (1.13)

Explore opportunities for surplus land to be made available for potential partnership or disposal to
third sector organisations where climate mitigation and adaptation goals are being observed e.g. for
community growing, urban agriculture, energy production, carbon sequestration {1.4)

Prepare a mitigation report (Oct 2025) and adaptation report (March 2026) for
submission to DAERA in line with Public Body Reporting requirements [1.12)

Develop a sustainable! low carbon procurement policy and supplier guidance documents to support a
transition to an inclusive, net zero and resilient future {1.12)

Set target date for met zero (1.9

Develop and [aunch an accessible climate data platform to

track progress on delivering climate adaptation and
mitigation actions [1.T)

Long-term (2030+)

Support skills development. education and training internally for climate action. Gilored for the specific needs of the departments [/ feams. Run periodic surveys

Council o develop a group of climate champions {1.8)

Embed climate impact throwghout the Coun

Explore the potential and feasibility of increasing the
number of climate friendly meals sold within the
Council Estate (1.3}

As part of the development of a sustainablel low carbon
procurement policy and supplier guidance documents,
include sustainable food requirements such as Yeg City,
Soil Associafion’s bronze catering mark and the Cool
Food Pledge into food provided within Council's
estate(1.13)

Expand scope of GHG data collection and reporting for scope 3 (1.10)

Integrate data collection systems related to Councilrelated GHG

emissions (1.6}




Adaptation and Resilience
2025-26

. . Goal: Ensuring BCC is future proofed and resilient to climate Risk
1. Update the BCC Climate Risk

Short-term (2025) Medium-term (2025-2030) Long-term {2030+]

Assessment in line with the new
mandatory Public Body Reporting
requirements (under the Climate
Change Act) (2.2)

Include Nb 3 as a risk consideration across
resilience measure (2.4)

the Capital .P'rogmmme (2.6)

Start to deliver the Tree Establishment
Strategy and continue the One Million
Trees Programme (2.13)

Solutions

Nature-hased

Develop plan to identify, assess, develop
and maintain and enhance existing
climate resilience (2.5)

Monitor, maintain and measure impact of new
resilience measures across Estate and
Capital Programme (2.7)

Apply SUDs policy and guidance
(SUDS Manual C753) as standard

Initiate a series of building-level ) ) Using the heat risk
Climate Risk Assessments in Review best practice assessment, develop
preparation for mandatory Public design slam!ards relevant § 28 puidance on heating
Body Reporting for buildings L LR ) sensitive building
identified at most risk from extreme design (2.9)

weather events (2.1) fy additional

Implement heat-
sensitive design
e Juidance and policy
across Capital

programme (2.10)

practice in the Capital Programme
(2.3)

nce measures [2.11)

g
(7]
w
(%]
%)
(=]

Integrate climate risk scores identified in the

CCRA into the BCC Asset Management system
| and utilise to identify areas for more detailed

Climate Risk Assessments on priority

Develop asset Implement asset scale
scale resilience plan for prierity

Start to deliver the Tree
Establishment Strategy and
continue the One Million Trees
Programme (2.19)

resilience Bl arcas of estate identified
plan {2.13) in CCRA {2.14)

sites/buildings and new developments (2.12)

Apply 5UDs policy and
guidance (SUDS Manual
Update the BCC CT53) as standard
Climate Risk practice in the Capital
Assessment in line Programme (2.3)
with the new
mandatory Public Body

Reporting o Facilitate a Catchment Based Management appreach to flood risk management (2.17)
requirements (under

the Climate Change
Act) (2.2)

Establish monitoring and reporting system for resilience across the BCC estate (2.15)

nvest in projects that aim to increase resilience and mainstream nature-based solutions (2.16)

Development
Flanning

Develop Heat Protection Plan for Council Staff (2.18)




1. Complete a second phase of

building energy audits (3.3, 3.4)

. Develop the integration of whole
life carbon assessments as
standard practice in the Capital
Programme (3.8)

..taunch a phased metering and
cetrofitting programme across
RCC’s top energy users based on

the findings of the building level
audits of Adelaide, Cecil Ward,
City Hall and Duncrue (3.11)

. Scope out a strategy to increase
renewable and low-carbon
energy use through corporate
power purchase agreements
(3.15)

Energy efficiency

Low-carbon [ renewable sources

Energy and Buildings

3

Goal: To achieve a low-carbon and sustainable energy system and
Short-termn [2025)

Medium-term (2025-2030) Long-term {20304

Launch a phased metering and

Complete a building-
lewel energy audit of
BCC’s top four
energy users [3.3)

Develop a phased
approach to BCC's
building-level energy
audits and retrofitting
programme (3.2)

Hall {3.4)
® s §
Develop the integration of whole life carbon assessments as standard practice in
the Capital Programme (3.8)

Scope out a strategy to increase renewable and low-
carbon energy use through corporate power
purchase agreements {3.15)

retrofitting programme across BCC's
top energy users based on the findings
of the building level audits of Adelaide,
Cecil Ward, City Hall and Duncrue {3.11)

Incorporate smart meters and C
corporate energy management software (3.6)

Raise awareness and engage key staff on building energy use
(2.1)

Complete a phased programme of retrofitting across the remaining
Council estate based on the findings of the building level audit {2.12)

developments [3.9)

Integrate biodiversity net gain assessments as standard practice in new Council development
projects (3.10)

(
: Map low carbon and renewable energy |
: sources across Belfast [3.5)

Explore the development
™ of energy storage at
Council-owned sites [3.16)

Explore the development of
8 renewable microgeneration at
Council-owned sites [3.13)

: Ensure a supportive CouncilHevel policy context for renewable energy
:genemiing facilities considering technologies such as hydrogen, wind,
| solar, bio-methane and HVD, geothermal and tidal (3.7)

Invest in projects that aim to promote additional

renewable energy across BCC (3.14)



Transport
2025-26

. Review the Business Travel Policy
and develop the Sustainable Staff

Transport: Action Roadmap =g

Goal: To achieve net zero and sustainable Council-related transport

Short-term (2025) Medium-term (2025-2030) Long-term {2030+)
Travel Plan to encourage modal - a— - =
i ; = - _ iver on the Fleet Replacement Strategy,
shift, active travel and more fuel- 3 T oot roplacomont siratogy (3 31 e g
. . .« . . v N
efficient driving for Council staff =
(4.1)
Throueh sustainable ks ?;2T:;:;;“;ﬂ;‘;fi{lﬁ{"i:g:g'ﬁ::;eaﬁgsﬁ;?:w‘a" Run communication and education campaigns to socialise the Council's sustainable
' g efficient driving for Council staff (3.1) — (T IR TR ES (B
procurement, aim to use local
0 ] Establish a Council-level policy for new developments to
su p p I lers to th e COU nc II to red uce E prioritise walking and cycling infrastructure, including the
i ithi 0 Through sustainable procurement, aim to use local suppliers to the integration of Nb§ such as green corridors, in line with the
miles travelled within the E Council to reduce miles travelled within the confines of procurement Local Development Plan (3.2)
co nfl nes Of p rocurement % legislation and Local Govt Act restrictions (3.4)
] _ - [=]
. . £ Develop employee incentives to encourage
- 2 &
restrictions (44) g Repurpose parking spaces for car clubs and cycle parking and integrate e =
£ appropriate facilities to support active fravel e.g. shower and changing Expand existing cycle-to-
. Conduct a commercial g [l facilities (3.10) LS )
A

assessment of Council land
suitable for installing low
emission vehicle (LEV) charging
points (4.9)

Improve Council-related
freight operations (3.7)

Conduct a commercial assessment of Council land suitable for installing
low emission vehicle (LEV) charging points (3.9)

. Repurpose parking spaces for car
clubs and cycle parking and
integrate appropriate facilities to
support active travel e.g. shower
and changing facilities (4.10) 9




2025-26

. Continue to progress the
proposal for a single use
plastics policy for the Council
(5.4)

) Initiate an internal Council-

level Waste Management
Plan which aligns with the
Waste Management
Hierarchy and with an
emphasis on green waste
(5.3)

. Develop a mechanism to
track and report on internal
Council generated waste
(5.7)

Waste Management

N
11

Waste Management: Action Roadmap

Goal: Enabling the Council and its operations to support the transition to a more circular economy

Short-term (2025) Medium-term (2025-2030)

Integrate more climate messaging into existing communication and education campaigns for staff to improve
waste management (4.1)

Review the findings from the 'More Circularity, Less Carbon"
project and BCC waste management pilot studies (4.2)

Develop an internal Council-level Waste Management
Plan which aligns with the Waste Management
Hierarchy and with an emphasis on green waste (4.3)

Continue to progress the proposal for a single use
e plastics policy for the Council (4.4)

Introduce an internal Council circular economy
initiative with links to the Sustainable Food
Parinership internal coordination group

4.5)

T aApsiqo

Work in parinerships with food re-distribution
centresiorganisations to reduce food waste (4.6)

Report and track internal Council generated waste
| (4.7)

-
1=
@
E >
a B
3
Ee
LR
s @
L™
EE
=
B
=]
Yo
@ =
Sg
Bw
= 8
E3
T E
E=
@ =
F-1a]
@ @
EE
=
: 8
bl
S G
%:
m
58
3=
;]
-
£5
LR
5]
=IU
k-1
a
[

10



Monitoring

framework and data

Tools for Transition : MLR

Action

Objectives

Metric

Outcome indicator

Data requirements

1.14 Develop a sustainable food policy
for the Council that addresses waste,
sourcing, packaging, emissions
measurement and an events protocol.

To develop a council food policy

Policy established

e Cross departmental group
established and policy created

Internal food waste
Finance data relating to food
Events data

1.7 Develop an accessible climate data
platform to track progress on delivering
climate adaptation and mitigation
actions

To have all the risks and actions in
one accessible place

No of staff accessing the
platform

Platform created with all climate
risks and actions accessible

e Council has a data platform that
is used by all staff

Climate risk data
Adaptation actions
Mitigation actions

1.12 Develop a sustainable/ low carbon
pr8curement policy and supplier

ance documents to support a
tegsition to an inclusive, net zero and
r?ﬂient future

-

To reduce scope 3 emissions

associated with purchased goods and

services

To support climate action across the
value chain for BCC

Scope 3 emissions associated
with purchased goods and
services

All procurement policy and
supplier guidance documents
updated to align with the net
zero transition and circular
economy

* Procurement policy and supplier
documents updated to with the
net zero transition, including a
focus on the circular economy

* Reduced scope 3 emissions
associated with purchased
goods and services

Existing procurement policy and
supplier guidance documents
Scope 3 emissions from purchased
goods and services

Net zero and circular economy
criteria for suppliers




Belfast Net Zero
Our Planet

I Action Tracker
City Emissions
Council Emissions

Supply Chain Emissions

26 abed

Belfast City Council
Climate Action Tracker

e I e =
Mumber of Actions by Department Number of Actions by Status

Bd‘md llr REqUirEs Imwmm _
City and Organizational Stratagy _

Finance and Rescurces -
Human Rasources - On Track

Place & Economy -
Target Met / Deliversd

Extarnal Affairs, Communications and Marketing I

@

0 20 40 o 10 20
Mumber of Actions Number of Actions
Action Mo. Proposed Action Status Department Comment I
k.

1.1 Support skills development, education and training . Behind / Requires Intervention City and Organisational Strategy Mo Comment
intemally for the net zero transition, tailored for the
specific needs of the departmentis / teams. Run periodic
surveys to assess the effectiveness of the training.

1.1G. Expand scope of GHG data collection and reporting for . On Track City and Organisational Strategy Mo Comment
scope 3

1.11 Emnbed climate impact throughout the council’'s decision .I Target Met / Delivered City and Organisational Strategy Mo Comment
making processes

1.12 Update and align procurement policy and supplier . At Risk / Change requirec Fimance and Resources Mo Comment

guidance documents with the Met Zero transition and

including a focus on circular economy (aligned with

action 4.5)

1.13 Establish an intemal Council governance structure that . Behind / BEequires Intervention City and Organisational Strategy Mo Comment

crimmmartes crietarnabhlas Feaased mastemtralhe ramartina 0 VAo

L[]



	Agenda
	2 Council Climate Action Plan
	Appendix 1 - Draft Climate Action Plan - May 25
	Covers
	Slide 1

	Contents
	Slide 2

	Layouts
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Executive summary
	Slide 5: Executive summary
	Slide 6: BCC’s Climate Action Plan on a page
	Slide 7: Key climate actions to be delivered in the short-term 
	Slide 8: Introduction
	Slide 9: Context
	Slide 10: Global climate change
	Slide 11: International, national and regional response
	Slide 12: Climate action
	Slide 13: Belfast City and Climate Action
	Slide 14: A Climate Action Plan for BCC
	Slide 15: N. Ireland Climate Change Act 2022 – Public Body Reporting
	Slide 16: Key steps of climate action plan development
	Slide 17: Climate Action Plan goals and supporting objectives
	Slide 18: Climate Action Roadmaps
	Slide 19: Measuring success
	Slide 20: Governance structure

	Untitled Section
	Slide 21: Climate Action Plan
	Slide 22
	Slide 23: Tools for Transition: Action Roadmap
	Slide 24: Tools for Transition
	Slide 25: Tools for Transition
	Slide 26
	Slide 27: Adaptation to Extreme Weather: Flooding
	Slide 28: Adaptation to Extreme Weather: Flooding
	Slide 29: Adaptation to Extreme Weather: Heat-related risk
	Slide 30: Adaptation to Extreme Weather: Action Roadmap 
	Slide 31
	Slide 32: Adaptation Extreme Weather: Action Roadmap 
	Slide 33: Energy and Buildings: Introduction
	Slide 34: Energy and Buildings: Action Roadmap
	Slide 35: Energy and Buildings
	Slide 36: Energy and Buildings
	Slide 37: Transport: Introduction 
	Slide 38
	Slide 39
	Slide 40
	Slide 41
	Slide 42: Waste Management: Action Roadmap
	Slide 43: Waste Management
	Slide 44: Appendices
	Slide 45: Appendix 1 Monitoring, Learning and Reporting Framework
	Slide 46: Tools for Transition : MLR
	Slide 47: Adaptation Climate Risk: MLR
	Slide 48: Energy and Buildings: MLR
	Slide 49: Transport: MLR
	Slide 50: Waste Management: MLR
	Slide 51: Appendix 2 Abbreviations, Glossary, Key & Definition of Action Categories
	Slide 52: List of abbreviations
	Slide 53: Glossary
	Slide 54: Glossary
	Slide 55: Key for action areas
	Slide 56: Definition of climate action categories
	Slide 57: Appendix 3 BCC Consultees & Documents Reviewed
	Slide 58: BCC consultees
	Slide 59
	Slide 60: Appendix 4 Responses to BCC Key Questions
	Slide 61: Summary responses to BCC’s key questions
	Slide 62: Appendix 5 Methodology
	Slide 63: Step 1: Climate action baseline
	Slide 64
	Slide 65: Step 1: Climate action baseline
	Slide 66
	Slide 67: Step 2: Action identification – screening assessment
	Slide 68: Step 2: Action identification – stakeholder workshop
	Slide 69
	Slide 70: Step 4: Measuring success
	Slide 71: Step 4: Measuring success
	Slide 72: Appendix 6 An Integrated Approach to Deliver the Tree Strategy and One Million Trees Programme
	Slide 73: Tools for Transition Action 2.19 – How the Belfast Tree Strategy and One Million Trees Initiative will support the CAP
	Slide 74


	CCR Committee - May 25 - draft CAP
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Climate Action Plan
	Slide 3: Climate Action Plan
	Slide 4: N. Ireland Climate Change Act 2022 – Public Body Reporting
	Slide 5: Key climate actions to be delivered in the short-term 
	Slide 6: Tools for Transition
	Slide 7: Adaptation and Resilience 
	Slide 8: Energy and Buildings
	Slide 9: Transport
	Slide 10: Waste Management
	Slide 11: Tools for Transition : MLR
	Slide 12



